UCSF

UC San Francisco Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title Studies of brain acetylcholinesterase and (Na⁺-K⁺)-ATPase

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/80j966c2

Author Maheshwari, Usha Rani

Publication Date

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

STUDIES OF BRAIN ACETYLCHOLINESTERASE AND Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase: INTERACTIONS WITH THE GENERAL ANESTHETIC CYCLOPROPANE

•

BY

Usha Maheswari

.

This work was supported in part by PHS Grant DE-00020-15 and USPHS NS-10913.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	PAGE
Acknowledgements	. iv
List of Tables	. v
List of Figures	. vii
Abstract	. viii
I. INTRODUCTION	. 1
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS	. 22
A. Materials	. 22
B. Methods	. 22
1. Preparation of Acetylcholinesterase	. 22
a) Solubilization and Fractionation	. 22
b) Ammonium Sulphate Precipitation	. 24
c) Affinity Chromatography	. 24
d) Sephadex G-200 Filtration	. 25
2. Microsomal Fractions	. 25
3. Preparation of Synaptosomal Fractions	. 27
4. Preparation of Na ⁺ -K ⁺ Adenosinetri- phosphatase	. 27
a) Homogenization and Subcellular Fractionation	. 27
b) Lubrol Extraction of the Microsomal Fraction	. 29
c) Sodium Iodide Treatment of the Microsomal Fraction	. 29
5. Assays and Procedures	. 30
a) Acetylcholinesterase	. 30
b) Na ⁺ -K ⁺ -Adenosinetriphosphatase	. 33
c) Lactate-Dehydrogenase	. 35

A) Dermanata Vinana Taskaka	
d) Pyruvate Kinase Lactate Dehydrogenase	35
6. Protein	36
7. Gasing Procedures	36
a) Gas Manifold Technique	36
b) Pressure Bomb	38
8. Labelling Procedure	40
III. RESULTS	43
A. Interactions of Cyclopropane with Brain Acetylcholinesterase	43
1. Properties of a Membrane Bound and Purified Forms of Brain Acetylcholines- terase	43
2. Effect of Varying Cyclopropane Pressure on Enzyme Activity	43
3. Sensitivity of Various AChE Preparations to Cyclopropane	46
4. Effect of Pre-Incubation with Cyclopropane	46
5. Reversal of AChE Activity after Cyclopropane Inhibition	48
6. Effect of Varying ATC Concentrations on the Cyclopropane	51
B. Interactions of Various Gases with Brain Adenosinetriphosphatase	51
1. Properties of Lubrol Solubilized Na ⁺ -K ⁺ -ATPase	51
2. Effects of Various Cyclopropane Pressures on Lubrol Na ⁺ -K ⁺ -ATPase	55
3. Sensitivity of Various Preparations of Na ⁺ -K ⁺ -ATPase to Cyclopropane	55
4. Effect of Pre-Incubation with Cyclopropane on the Lubrol Na ⁺ -K ⁺ -ATPase Activity	58

.

	PAGE
5. Reversal of Cyclopropane Inhibitory Effect	58
6. Sensitivity of Lubrol Na ⁺ -K ⁺ -ATPase [*] to N ₂ , or O ₂ and Hydrostatic Pressure	60
7. Influence of Temperature on Cyclopropane Inhibition of Na+-K+-ATPase	63
8. Effect of N ₂ , Compressed Air and O ₂ on Enzyme Activity as a Function of Substrate Concentration	63
9. Kinetics of Cyclopropane Inhibition of Na ⁺ -K ⁺ -ATPase	67
10. Cyclopropane Action on Phosphorylation and Dephosphorylation of Na ⁺ -K ⁺ -ATPase	67
<pre>11. Influence of Substrate Concentration on Cyclopropane Inhibition of Phosphorylation</pre>	69
C. A Study of the Possible Functional Relationship Between Na ⁺ -K ⁺ -ATPase and AChE	73
<pre>l. Properties of Microsomal AChE and Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase</pre>	73
2. Effect of Cations on AChE Activity	73
3. Effect of ATP on AChE Activity	77
4. Effect of Varying ATP Concentration on Ion Activated AChE	77
5. Effect of Varying Mg ⁺⁺ Concentration on ATP Inhibition of Ion Activated AChE	81
<pre>6. Effect of Other Nucleotides on "Stimulated" AChE</pre>	81
7. Effect of Ouabain	83
8. Effect of Cations and ATP on Lubrol "Solubilized" and a "Pure" AChE Preparation	83
IV. DISCUSSION	86
SUMMARY	101
REFERENCES	103

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am most indebted to Dr. Anthony Trevor for his encouragement, help and guidance during the three years which I have spent in his laboratory. His help has been invaluable in guiding me towards various scientific concepts and most important, his patience during my research training and recognition of my independence of thought in pursuing this dissertation.

I am thankful to Dr. Robert Featherstone and Dr. George Ellman for serving on my committee and for their suggestions regarding this work.

I would like to extend special thanks to Dr. Sin Lam Chan for his interest in this project, ideas and technical assistance.

I am grateful to Chuck Pudwill for his help with the gasing procedures and suggestions regarding the design of experiments.

I would also like to thank many friends in the Department for their assistance in enumerable ways: Dr. John Davisson, Sally Hegeman, Don Shirachi, Glauce Viana, Alice Settle, and Barbara Halperin.

I also wish to thank Dr. Howard Myers and Dr. Thomas Christie for their help, friendship and moral support and Claudia Trevor for her efficiency in typing this manuscript.

I am indeed grateful to my husband for his perserverance, help, moral support during the entire period of my graduate training.

iv

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE	TITLE	PAGE
I	Properties of membrane bound and multiple forms of brain AChE	44
II	Effect of cyclopropane on different AChE preparations	47
III	Effect of preincubation with cyclopropane on the AChE activity	49
IV	Properties of lubrol extracted Na⁺-K⁺- activated ATPase from beef brain	53
V	Influence of cyclopropane pressure on Na+-K+-ATPase activity	56
VI	Effect of cyclopropane on various Na+-K+-ATPase preparations	57
VII	Effect of preincubation with cyclopropane on enzyme activity	59
VIII	Reversal of cyclopropane inhibited Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase	61
IX	Temperature effect on Na ⁺ _K ⁺ -ATPase activity and cyclopropane inhibition of enzyme system	64
X	Effect of 4.3 atm of N ₂ and compressed air on Na ⁺ -K ⁺ -ATPase activity	66
XI	Effect of cyclopropane on P ³² incor- poration into a brain ATPase preparation	70
XII	Effect of cyclopropane on Na ⁺ -K ⁺ -ATPase activity at different potassium concentrations	71
XIII	Effect of cyclopropane on the phosphory- lation of protein at various [S] concentrations	72
XIV	Summary of properties of microsomal AChE and Na ⁺ -K ⁺ -ATPase from beef brain	75
xv	Ion activation of acetylcholinesterase activity	76

.

.

.

TABLE	PAGE
XVI	Effect of nucleotides on acetylcholinesterase activity
XVII	Effect of ATP on activated AChE activity 80
XVIII	ATP inhibition of Mg^{2+} activated AChE 82
XIX	Ouabain inhibition of ion activated AChE 84
XX	Effects of ions and ATP on 3 AChE preparations

LIST OF FIGURES

•

FIGURE	TITLE	PAGE
1	Scheme for ATP hydrolysis	15
2	Fractionation scheme for AChE solubilization	23
3	Fractionation scheme for microsomal fraction	26
4	Subcellular fractionation sheme for isolation of synaptosomal acetyl-cholinesterase	28
5	Thunberg tube with an optical cuvette	31
6	Airtight steel chamber with a quartz cell	32
7	Airtight reaction chamber apparatus	37
8	Stainless-steel pressure bomb	39
9	Hydrostatic pressure apparatus	41
10	Pressure effect of cyclopropane on purified acetylcholinesterase activity	45
11	Reversal of acetylcholinesterase activity (Form C) following degasing	50
12	Kinetics of cyclopropane inhibition of acetylcholinesterase activity, Form C	52
13	Changes in lubrol "solubilized" Na ⁺ -K ⁺ - ATPase activity with time at different temperatures	54
14	Effects of hydrostatic pressure, nitroger oxygen and cyclopropane on lubrol "solubilized" Na ⁺ -K ⁺ -ATPase activity	1, 62
15	Arrheniun plot of cyclopropane inhibition of Na ⁺ -K ⁺ -ATPase activity	65
16	Kinetics of cyclopropane inhibition of Na ⁺ -K ⁺ -ATPase activity	68
17	Kinetics of cyclopropane inhibition of p32 incorporation into a brain Na ⁺ -K ⁺ - ATPase preparation	74
18	Effect of varying adenosinetriphosphate concentration on ion activated microsomal acetylcholinesterase activity	79

ABSTRACT

Studies of Brain Acetylcholinesterase and Na⁺-K⁺ -ATPase: Interactions with the General Anesthetic Cyclopropane

The interactions of a general anesthetic, cyclopropane with brain macromolecules, i.e., both membrane-bound and "purified" forms of acetylcholinesterase (AChE) and Na^+-K^+ -ATPase from beef brain were studied. In addition, the possibility of a functional relationship between the two enzyme systems was examined using a brain microsomal fraction containing AChE and "ion-transport" ATPase.

Cyclopropane inhibited all forms of AChE activity, the inhibition being greater (35%) at low substrate and less at high substrate concentrations. The inhibitory effect was observed at low gas pressures (0.1 atm) and was reversible. Cyclopropane inhibition in all AChE preparations occurred by a mechanism involving mixed kinetics. This suggested the interaction of the gas at more than one site on the enzyme molecule. By analogy with known interactions of xenon with heme proteins, the competitive component of inhibition was interpreted in terms of gas binding at some "non-polar" region on the active site. An additional such region of the molecule distinct from the active site, but capable of modifying reaction rate is suggested by the non-competitive component of cyclopropane inhibition.

 Na^+-K^+ -ATPase in all preparations studied was inhibited by cyclopropane. Inhibition was reversible and both pressure and temperature dependent. From control experiments with other gases and hydrostatic pressure, the inhibition appeared to be specific for cyclopropane. The inhibition of Na^+-K^+ -ATPase by cyclopropane was substrate promoted following "noncompetitive" kinetics. Cyclopropane inhibited the enzyme reaction at or before the phosphorylation stage, with no significant effect on the dephosphorylation of protein. These results were interpreted in terms of the cyclopropane interaction with enzyme to modify the influence of substrate on the possible "regulatory" site or sites.

In a membrane preparation, ATP inhibition of cation "stimulated" AChE occurred under conditions optimal for "iontransport" ATPase activity, suggesting a possible functional relationship between the two enzyme systems. However, other nucleotides (GTP, UTP) and ATP in the presence of single cation also partially blocked the "ion-activated" AChE activity. A relatively pure AChE preparation (no measurable Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity) was also activated by the cations and this activation was reversed by ATP. From these findings one could conclude that ion activation and nucleotide inhibition of AChE represent individual properties of the enzyme which may be of importance in the regulation of enzyme activity during excitation.

ix

I. INTRODUCTION

Anesthesia has been defined as a reversible state of unconsciousness. In addition to depression of the nervous system, pharmacological agents that cause anesthesia may alter functions throughout the organism (28). A large number of chemical compounds with marked structural heterogenity are capable of exerting anesthetic action such as gaseous anesthetics (176), volatile anesthetics (178,179) and barbiturates (157). Also, hypothermia and electric stimulation of certain regions of the brain can cause conditions approaching general anesthesia. There have been many studies on the mechanism of narcosis, yet the basic question of what physical or chemical changes in the central nervous system cause the state of general anesthesia is unsolved. Anesthetic molecules have been postulated to interact with nerve cell components, i.e., lipid (46,114), water (113,127,128), protein (147,151) or membranes (16,120). Unitary theories ascribe anesthesia to a primary action in a simple phase such as hypotheses including the Meyer-Overton theory based on the correlation of anesthetic potency with oil/water partition ratios (112,126), the thermodynamic approach (55), the microcrystal hydrate theory (113,127), and cell permeability changes (66) interfering with ion movements. Simultaneous actions presumably occur in more than one phase.

There has been many studies on the biochemical actions of anesthetic drugs. Quastel (135) demonstrated <u>in vitro</u> inhibition of oxygen uptake by brain after exposure to

barbiturates, chloral hydrate and urethane. He suggested that these anesthetics act via depression of the respiratory enzymes at the level of NADH dehydrogenase. Xenon has been shown to increase the rate of oxygen consumption in mouse liver and brain slices while it depresses anaerobic glycosis (169). Chance and Hollunger in 1963 (33) demonstrated that amytal in low concentrations inhibits mitochondrial metabolism at a) electron transfer between NAD and flavoprotein and b) at energy transfer and the oxidation of succinate at the mitochondrial level.

McIlwain in 1962 suggested that anesthetics do not primarily act at the level of energy producing mechanisms, because in vivo creatine phosphate levels increase and inorganic phosphate concentration decreased while oxygen consumption is depressed during anesthesia (110). He further indicated that anesthetics could inhibit ionic movements across the membrane during excitation (110).

The gaseous anesthetics in general and the inert gases (xenon, cyclopropane, nitrous oxide, ethylene) in particular, have received little attention from the standpoint of possible mechanisms underlying their anesthetic properties. The so called "inert gaseous anesthetic agents" exert their biological effects without undergoing any change in their own chemical structure, yet these molecules must ineract with some of the constituents of the system in which they produce anesthesia. It has been suggested by Featherstone et al (53,54), that these agents cannot interact with membrane or protein as a whole,

but can only associate with small groups of atoms which constitute these large macromolecules. It is pertinent to mention how these small molecules can produce functional changes. The inert gas anesthesics cannot form covalent, ionic or hydrogen bonds under physiological conditions but only secondary weak bonds involving Van Der Waals' forces, and the duration of such bonds is very short (35,54). The most interesting of Van Der Waals' forces is the London force which explains attractive force between such gas molecules which have no permanent dipole moments. The existence of such interactions has been well documented in studies of the association of xenon and cyclopropane with proteins of established structures (53,54,147,149). In 1951 Cullen and Gross (39) conclusively demonstrated that the inert gas xenon was an anesthetic in man at atmospheric pressure. Discovery of the anesthetic properties of xenon stimulated interest in the metabolically inert gases which are known to be narcotic, although several are not anesthetics at less than one atmosphere pressure.

Xenon is a monoatomic gas with atomic number of 54 and atomic weight of 131.3. Cyclopropane is the simplest hydrocarbon with structural formula: H_2C H_2C H_2C H_2C

Waters and Schmidt (1934) published the first clinical report on the use of cyclopropane as a general anesthetic (181). It is a colorless gas, heavier than air and is stored under pressure as a liquid in metal cylinders at 37°C, its water

solubility is .204 ml gas/ml of water (53). It is explosive and anesthetic concentrations vary from 10-30 vol. percent. It is a safe anesthetic and does not affect the cardiovascular system. It is eliminated entirely by lungs (185) and recently 14 C-cyclopropane has been shown to be converted to 14 C-CO₂ in rats (178).

The anesthetic action of ethylene $(H_2C=CH_2)$ was first noted in 1865 but the gas was first used for anesthesia by Lewis in 1923 (103). It is a colorless gas with an unpleassant taste and is stored in metal cylinders. It is lighter than air and not explosive.

Xenon is not only an anesthetic in man but also in mice, rabbits, rats and monkeys (131). It has been shown to block impulse transmission in isolated perepheral nerve fibers (27). Cyclopropane at a concentration of 40% has been shown to depress electrical activity at preganglionic regions in dogs (56). In addition, it has been shown that cyclopropane depresses cerebral oxygen consumption (8). Xenon and cyclopropane at atmospheric pressures reversibly inhibit the aerobic and anaerobic growth of E. coli (64). These gases also affected NADH oxidase and succinic dehydrogenase by 20% at l atmosphere in E. coli (64). Using x-ray diffraction techniques specific binding has been demonstrated of xenon to hemoglobin (149) methemoglobin, metmyoglobin (150) and of cyclopropane to myoglobin (104,148). Binding of these gases occurred at a position in the myoglobin equidistant from the proximal histidine and heme and between a nonpolar and a partially polar area perhaps due mainly to London

interactions (147). This is not a generalized phenomenon as is suggested by the fact that xenon does not bind to hen egg lysozyme, chymotrypsin, and horse heart cytochrome (151). In addition, krypton, ethylene, acetylene and ethane do not bind to myoglobin as do xenon and cyclopropane (104). Helium group gases have been shown to inhibit active sodium transport in frog skin although at extremely high pressures (61). Anesthetics interfere with the movement of both Na⁺ and K⁺ during the action potential in nerves (119) and have been also shown to interfere with the Na⁺ pump mechanism (119).

There have been only a few studies on the actions of these inert gases on brain enzymes. Trevor et al (176) reported inhibition of Na^+-K^+ -ATPase by cyclopropane at pressures above one atmosphere. "Ion-Transport" ATPase has also been shown to be sensitive to ether (75), halothane (75, 101) and ethanol (74,75,172). Recently Roberts et al (138) have demonstrated inhibition of eel AChE by ether. A "membrane bound" AChE from brain tissue has been shown to be activated by helium group gases (153) although at extremely high pressures.

A general blockade of excitable neurons could result in the observed neurochemical changes associated with the actions of anesthetics. It is generally accepted that the transmission of excitatory activity across junctional regions in mammals occurs through the mediation of chemical substances such as acetylcholine, norepinephrine, gamma-aminobutyric acid, and 5-hydroxytryptamine. ACh is established to be a neuro-

transmitter agent at parasympathetic neuroeffector junctions, at skeletal myoneural junctions, in the ganglia of the autonomic nervous system and at certain synapses in the central nervous system. Norepinephrine is a chemical transmitter at postganglionic sympathetic nerve endings and with epinephrine is released from the adrenal medulla. Special mechanisms exist at each functional site for the disposition or removal of the transmitter, ensuring precise control of the transmitter concentration. Three potential pathways available are: a) diffusion from the cleft, 2) destruction by enzyme activity, and c) reuptake of the transmitter into the nerve ending (58). For example, the termination of norepinephrine action is via reuptake into the nerve, although two enzyme systems, i.e., monoamine oxidase (MAO) and catechol-O-methyl transferase (COMT), are capable of destroying the transmitter, these probably are not very important in terminating sympathetic activity (58). Similarly ACh action is presumably terminated via inactivation by AChE. Thus, the enzyme AChE performs a key function in the control of excitability and of information transfer between cells. Another important enzyme system in the establishment, maintainence, and control of cerebral excitability is "Ion-Transport"-ATPase. This enzyme system is of importance for regulating ionic concentration gradients and thus ionic fluxes. An interaction with Na^+-K^+ -ATPase would restrict the ability of the nerve cell to restore ionic gradients following excitation, with a resultant loss of neuronal excitability. A general description of these two enzyme systems, i.e., AChE and Na^+-K^+ -ATPase will be

included here to permit descriptions of drug interactions subsequently.

Acetylcholinesterase (EC 3.1.1.7) appears to be an integral part of most excitable membranes and has been found in the innervated tissues of all vertebrates and invertebrates studied so far. The main sources are brain and nervous tissues (122,123,177), electric organ (140,141,191) and muscle end plates. Cholinesterases have been described to be of many types and have been differentiated by their location, substrate specificities, kinetic properties and by the actions of selective inhibitors. The hydrolytic action of AChE via inactivation of ACh presumably plays an important role in the control of excitability at post-synaptic sites (123). The enzyme may also regulate the levels of neurotransmitter in the pre-synaptic terminals and has been suggested to constitute an integral component of the cholinergic receptors (35,100). There is a considerable amount of histochemical evidence for central cholinergic transmission mechanisms and thus AChE can be anticipated to have importance in central synaptic transmission (110).

During the hydrolysis of ACh, an acetylated enzyme is formed as an intermediate and choline is liberated. The choline is probably taken up by nerve endings and used for transmitter synthesis but the acetylated enzyme is subsequently split by water to give acetate and free enzyme. From studies on AChE from electric tissue and erythrocytes it has been suggested that the active site of the enzyme consists

of an anionic component and an esteratic site. The anionic site, consisting of one or more negative groups which interact by ionic bondings with the cationic N^+ atoms of the choline residue, may be involved in the initial contact between enzyme and substrate. The esteratic site containing a serine-OH, an acid site and a basic site is involved in ester bond activation. The principal forces of attraction between the substrate and the enzyme are considered to be via coulombic and hydrophobic forces (188). A weak covalent bond between the basic group of the esteratic site and the electrophilic carbonyl C atom of the ester is subsequently formed.

Current concepts of the molecular and submolecular events involved in AChE activity and its modification by pharmacologic agents have developed from studies on the unpurified forms of the mammalian enzyme and on drug actions in higher animals <u>in vivo</u>. AChE activity is influenced by many agents such as neuromuscular blocking agents (34,95), indirectly acting parasympathomimetics, parasympatholytics (91,193) and certain gaseous anesthetics (153).

There are numerous compounds that inhibit AChE at the esteratic site in a manner similar to the reaction of acetylcholine with the enzyme, such as organophosphates, carbamates and sulfonates (145,187). Most of these agents react with the enzyme to transfer an acid function, i.e., a phosphoryl, a carbamyl or a sulfonyl group to the enzyme. Unlike the acetylated enzyme, these intermediate complexes involving phosphorylation, carbamylation and sulfonation are relatively stable and react with water slowly. Quaternary ammonium

compounds, at appropriate concentrations, inhibit AChE (189) in a manner distinct from the phosphates. This involves the formation of a readily dissociable complex with a negatively charged group on the enzyme, presumably the anionic subsite of the active surface because of the competitive nature of the interaction. Recently evidence has accumulated indicating that AChE possesses in addition to an anionic site in the catalytic center, perepheral anionic sites, where pharmacologic agents might bind and exert a regulatory role on the enzyme activity (34,85,91). Belleau and his co-workers, using enzyme from the electric organ of electrophorus electricus or from bovine erythrocytes (13,14) have shown at least two anionic sites on the protein molecule. From experiments with eserine and atropine, Kato et al (86,87) have also demonstrated the presence of two distinct binding sites on the surface of the enzyme extracted from the head ganglia of squid. Eserine was shown to bind to the active center and atropine to another anionic site distinct from the catalytic site. In addition, experiments with neuromuscular blocking agents such as gallamine and d-tubocurarine have indicated the possibility of binding sites which are noncatalytic (34). It has been shown that small quaternary ammonium ions and inorganic ions may bind to allosteric sites on the enzyme (34,37). Ca⁺⁺, for example, which has stimulatory action on the enzyme, is considered to bind at an allosteric site, i.e., the beta-anionic site as it does not compete with acetylcholine for the catalytic anionic site (alpha). On the other hand, Mg⁺⁺ and Na⁺⁺ (143,144) seem to

bind at both alpha and beta sites. According to Roufogalis et al (142), there is another site on the protein, the (gammaanionic) site where gallamine can bind. This suggestion is based on the observation that tetraethyl ammonium (TEA), tetramethyl ammonium (TMA) or Ca⁺⁺ do not antagonize the inhibition of AChE by gallamine and that the alpha and beta sites are most likely occupied by these cations. In summary, most studies on the properties of the purified forms of eel AChE suggest that the protein possesses a "regulatory" site distinct from the active site and thus AChE is an allosteric enzyme (34,91).

AChE, from mammalian sources, has been less extensively studied in this regard, but there is some evidence suggesting that mammalian enzyme has properties similar to eel AChE (7,14, 193). AChE from beef brain (32), bovine erythrocytes and membrane-bound and solubilized rat brain preparations (193), have been shown sensitive to inorganic salts, gallamine, d-tubocurarine, TMA and edrophonium. These studies also indicate the existence of multiple anionic sites on brain AChE which may be associated with regulatory effects.

The availability of purified forms of AChE from a mammalian source is important to facilitate our understanding of the hydrolytic mechanisms of the enzyme and its modification by various pharmacologic agents. The electric tissue of <u>Electro-</u> <u>phorus electricus</u> and <u>Torpedo marmorata</u> provide a rich source of the enzyme and have been used extensively for purification attempts. AChE was first obtained in a semi-purified form by extraction from electric tissue of <u>Torpedo marmorata</u> in

1938 (121). In the early 1940's, a 300-fold purification was obtained by ammonium sulfate fractionation and analytical centrifugation by Rothenberg and Nachmansohn (141). Various chromatographic procedures, such as ion exchange, and gel filtration were developed in the late 1950's and Kremzner and Wilson (94) further attempted to purify the enzyme using such procedures. The chromatographic method of Wilson (94) was slightly modified by Leuzinger and Baker (99) to achieve large-scale purification and finally, crystallization of the enzyme. Recently the application of affinity chromatography was introduced (38) and was applied by Berman and Young (18) to the purification of electric eel AChE. These methods reduced the purification procedure to several steps and tremendously increased the yield. Since then the technique has been modified and scaled up (82,140), so that relatively large amounts of the enzyme are available for more extensive studies.

Studies on the regional distribution of AChE activity in the brain show that the caudate nuclei contain high concentrations of the enzyme that are apparently located in the membrane components. Thus, caudate nuclei tissue of a larger mammalian brain appeared to be a good starting material for the purification of enzyme.

In brain, as contrasted to eel AChE, the major problem had been to solubilize the enzyme from membranes. A number of approaches have been used to achieve this and can be grouped as a) the use of surface active agents (67,97), b) organic

solvent extraction (97,98), c) treatment with proteolytic enzymes (42,47,67,97), and d) the use of chelating agents (29).

Among the surface active agents, most of the cationic and anionic detergents inactivated the enzyme (67,97) so only the non-ionic agents were of use. The use of non-ionic detergents did separate the protein from membranes, but influenced further separation (67,97,160,161). Organic solvents have also been used to remove lipids and subsequently release AChE into a soluble form. The most successful study using an organic solvent was that reported by Jackson and Aprison (78) which resulted in an overall purification of 32-fold.

Recently solubilization has been achieved by the use of a proteolytic enzyme, elastase (83) and of chelating agents such as EDTA (29,30). The yield with the latter is high and the membrane components are exposed to a much milder treatment with presumably minimum physicochemical changes in the macromolecule.

Chan et al have reported a modified method for solubilization of the enzyme with EDTA (30). Recently using affinity chromatography coupled to gel filtration with Sephadex G-200, the brain enzyme has been obtained as three peaks each with a specific activity of approximately 600,000 umoles ATC/mg protein/h. The three peaks have been characterized and their molecular weights have been found to be 130,000, 270,000 and 395,000 (31,32).

The $Na^+-K^+-Mg^{++}$ dependent adenosine triphosphatase (ATP phosphohydrolase, EC 3.6.1.3) was first described by Skou (164) in the crab nerve and has been studied by many authors (3,6,59,70). Enzyme activity has been demonstrated in a wide variety of tissues such as kidney (96,133,182), red blood cells (132,144), perepheral nerve (21,164,166), brain (159, 164,165), liver (49,54), skeletal and cardiac muscles (19, 23,155) and secretory glands (158), etc. It has been found in most species ranging from man to microorganisms (24,57, 63,65,157) with some quantitative differences, but basically the enzymes possess the same characteristics. The highest activities of Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase have been demonstrated in the brain and tissues concerned with secretion (20,60,164,165). Studies on the regional distribution of brain show that the highest enzyme activity is found in cerebral cortex, in subcellular fractions containing nerve endings (24,25,72,133,146). Isolated synaptic vesicles, however, contain very little activity (4,62,133).

"Ion-transport"-ATPase is intimately associated with cellular membranes and perhaps is a component of a lipoprotein complex. The enzyme differs from other ATP hydrolyzing enzymes, in that a) it requires both Na⁺ and K⁺ in addition to Mg⁺⁺ for maximum activity, b) ATP appears to be the major substrate, since with other nucleotides such as inosine (ITP) guanosine (GTP) and uridine (UTP) triphosphates as substrate, phosphatase activity is quite low, and c) effects of inhibitors (139). The stimulated enzyme is distinguished from the "Basic" Mg⁺⁺-ATPase

in that a) it is specific for ATP, b) it is inhibited by low concentrations of cardiotonic steroids and c) it is characterized by high activation energy (62,139).

It is necessary to discuss the possible mechanisms of ATP hydrolysis in order to understand the mechanism of active cation transport and the action of various pharmacologic agents. There is strong evidence that ATP is hydrolyzed through a multiple reaction sequence (3,6,163) and various steps are summarized in Figure 1. It has been well established that there is an Mg⁺⁺-Na⁺ -dependent phosphorylation of the protein and this phosphorylated intermediate is an acyl phosphate (3,5,71) characterized as a glutamyl-gamma-phosphate residue (3,71). Nucleotides other than ATP, which are poor substrates for Na^+K^+ -ATPase activity, such as CTP, UTP, and ITP, can also phosphorylate the enzyme (175). There is strong evidence from studies with electroplex enzyme that the phosphoenzyme undergoes a Mg⁺⁺ dependent transition from a high energy form $(E_1 P)$ to a low energy form (E_2-P) . Subsequently, K^+ promotes dephosphorylation of the E₂-P form (51,52,162). The dephospho enzyme (E_2) has a high affinity for K^+ and is interconvertible with E_1 , a species of high Na⁺ affinity (162,163) which thus completes the enzyme catalytic cycle. Other reactions such as ADP-ATP exchange and enzyme-substrate binding will be discussed later in the Discussion.

The ubiquitous occurrence of Na^+-K^+ -ATPase in cells that are capable of pumping sodium and potassium against a concentration gradient, its chemical characteristics, and anatomical



Figure 1. Scheme for ATP hydrolysis

localization suggest that this enzyme is involved in some way with the active transport of these cations (22,132,133, 165,183). Changes in enzyme activity appear to be correlated with the changes in electrolyte movements in kidney (165, 182,184), red blood cells (69,182), brain slices (165,183) and perhaps other organs. A relationship between cation transport, amino acids (12,164) and sugars (110,164) transport has also been suggested.

In red blood cells, the link between enzyme activity and cation transport is more easily demonstrated using the technique of reversible hemolysis (69). The parallelism between Na^+-K^+ -ATPase activity as measured by the ATP hydrolysis and the active transport of Na⁺ and K⁺ as determined by the flux of radioisotopes across cell membranes, give strong support to the close association of the two. In tissue slices of brain and kidney, ouabain inhibits coupled transport of Na^+ and K^+ and depresses metabolism as well as inhibiting Na^+-K^+ -ATPase activity in the broken cell homogenates of these organs (182,184). The activity of ouabain inhibited ATPase is relatively high in neural tissues such as brain, electric organs of eel, kidney and certain glands, where rapid active extrusion of Na⁺ ion occurs following depolarization. By contrast, it is relatively low in red blood cells (23,24) and toad bladders (20) which transport cations slowly.

It is now well established that Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity is specifically inhibited by cardiac glycosides (6,59,157, 159). The sensitivity of the enzyme activity to cardiac

glycosides ranges widely, i.e., from 10^{-4} M to 10^{-9} M, depending upon experimental conditions, time of exposure to the drug, temperature and species involved (59). Recent studies have suggested that there may be a causal relationship between the inhibition of enzyme activity and inotropic effect of cardiac glycosides (107,155,156). Schwartz and others (107,155,157) have shown a parallel relationship between the degree of binding and the extent of inhibition of Na^+-K^+- ATPase activity by cardiac glycosides in electric organ and dog heart. However, the above relationship has been questioned by various workers (59,70), since no quantitative correlation have been found between the inhibition of Na^+-K^+ -ATPase activity in vitro and the inotropic effect in vivo. In addition, there are many compounds which inhibit the enzyme activity that do not have a positive inotropic effect on heart, such as oligomycin (11,170,179), sulfhydryl blocking agents (51), sodium azide (137), and chlorpromazine (2).

An understanding of the function of $Na^+-K^+-ATPase$ and indeed the possible elucidation of the mechanism of Na^+-K^+ transport depends in part on the purification of the enzyme. Conventional procedures such as ammonium sulphate precipitation and ion exchange column chromatography used in the purification of many soluble enzymes have not been used successfully for the purification of $Na^+-K^+-ATPase$ due to its particulate nature. Detergent treatments have been applied in the attempted isolation of the enzyme from various tissues. Problems with the anionic agent deoxycholate include inhibition or stimulation of enzyme activity (80,115), a rather low yield in terms of its solubilization (173) and the possible influence of the detergent on the physical properties of the enzyme (90). Similar problems were observed by the use of nonionic detergents Triton X-200 or Lubrol. For example, Lubrol W effected 40% solubilization of brain Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase, but caused a marked stimulatory effect at low concentrations and inhibition at higher concentrations above 4 mg/ml (173). Hokin and his colleagues extracted this enzyme from brain microsomes using 10-20 mg/ml Lubrol and further purified by centrifugation and column chromatography (111,159).

The high concentrations of detergents used in these studies are known to cause enzyme inhibition (159,160). Lower concentrations of Lubrol WX (1-2 mg/ml) were shown (159) to be quite effective in extracting the enzyme from both brain and cardiac tissue, but the sensitivity of the preparations to cardiac glycoside inhibition was somewhat different from the enzyme in particulate material. Fractionation with discontinuous density gradient resulted in a partial purification (115) but did not give homogenity. Column chromatography and acrylamide gel electrophoresis have resulted in the loss of enzyme activity (115). Hokin (71) has recently reported a purification scheme from beef brain microsomes which involves solubilization with Lubrol and chromatography on 6% agarose. Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase was eluted as a single peak with molecular weight of approximately 670,000

(71). The same apparent molecular weight was obtained with a Lubrol solubilized NaI treated beef brain enzyme by Uesugi et al (177). They did not suggest, however, what percentage of this molecular weight is due to bound Lubrol. So far, the protein has been solubilized, yet not completely purified.

AChE and Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase may both be associated with nerve conductions and synaptic transmission. The enzyme activities are widespread and associated with excitable cell membranes, i.e., both are membrane-bound. In brain tissues, both enzymes display maximal activity in microsomal fractions (109). It has been suggested by Kalandarishvili (81) that AChE and "ion-transport"-ATPase are located in close association with each other in the microsomal fractions of rat brain. This was based on the fact that uniform parallel changes occurred in the activities of these enzymes following purification procedures. An examination of the sedimentation properties of the two "solubilized" enzymes using zonal ultracentrifugation by Shirachi et al (20) also suggested the possibility of a physical association between the two enzyme systems. A possible functional interrelationship between AChE and "iontransport"-ATPase has been suggested by Fahn (50,51,52) and Kometiani et al (93). This suggestion is based on a) the inhibition of ion-transport-ATPase by ACh and the inhibition of AChE by ATP, b) ouabain inhibition of AChE activity, and c) the demonstration that inhibition of both enzymes occurred only in the presence of Na^+ , K^+ and Mg^{++} ions.

There has been a lack of information on the effects of inert gas anesthetics on brain enzyme-systems, i.e., AChE

and "ion-transport"-ATPase, the importance of which in the CNS has already been discussed. Cyclopropane was selected in the present study because it is less expensive than xenon and chemically unreactive. Since purified forms of a mammalian brain AChE were available, it appeared possible to study gas interactions analogous to myo/hemoglobin studies with inert gases.

In the present study, an attempt was made to study the following:

A. The interaction of cyclopropane with both membrane bound and the purified forms of AChE from ox brain caudate tissue. This involved characterization of the enzymes, determining conditions required for optimum gas inhibition, the reversal of the effect and the kinetics at two different gas pressures.

B. The interactions of various gases including cyclopropane, nitrogen (N_2) , oxygen (O_2) , and compressed air were examined with semipurified preparations of Na^+-K^+ -ATPase from ox brain cortical tissue. This phase of the study included characterizing the enzyme systems, optimum conditions for gas effects, controls using gases such as N_2 , O_2 , and hydrostatic pressure and the effect of cyclopropane as a function of substrate concentration. In addition, the site of cyclopropane action in the ATP hydrolytic reaction sequence and the influence of substrate concentration on that site was examined.

C. The final question was to examine the possibility of a functional relationship between the two enzyme systems using a brain microsomal preparation containing both AChE and Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase. This section included the study of the effects of the cations Na⁺, K⁺ and Mg⁺⁺ either alone or in various combinations, the influence of nucleotides (ATP, GTP, and UTP) and ouabain effects on AChE activity. In addition, a comparative investigation of the effects of ATP and cations on different preparations of brain AChE of varying degrees of purity was carried out.

II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

A. Materials

Acetylthiocholine (ATC), butyrylthiocholine iodide, ouabain, tris-ATP and trizma base were obtained from Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, Mo.); 5,5-dithiobis-(2-nitrobenzoic acid) was from Aldrich Chemical Co., Inc. (Milwaukee, Wisc.); affinose-202, was from Bio-Rad. Labs (Richmond, Calif.); Sephadex G-200, was from Pharmacia (Uppsala, Sweden); edrophonium chloride was a gift from ICI America, Inc.; gases were obtained from Ohio Medical Products (Madison, Wisc.); aquasol and ATP (p32) was obtained from New England Nuclear. AT³²P had a specific activity of 14.6 curies/mmole. Other reagents or chemicals used were of reagent grade.

B. Methods

1. Preparation of Acetylcholinesterase

a) Solubilization and Fractionation

Bovine brains were obtained from a local slaughter house and were kept on ice during transportation. Dissection was done by quickly removing the membranes and blood vessels located over the caudate with tweezers. Using a spatula, the caudate was then carefully stripped away from the internal capsule minimizing the presence of all white matter. A 15% (w/v) homogenate was prepared in 0.32 M sucrose containing 1 mM EDTA, at pH 6.9. The homogenate was centrifuged according to the scheme shown in Figure 2 in a Lourdes Model A₂ Betafuge using the 9RA rotor and a Spinco Model L centrifuge using the 30 rotor at 0-4°C. The supernatant fraction 1 was





discarded because of low AChE content. The pellets were then suspended in the original volume of 0.32 M sucrose in 1 mM EDTA, pH 6.9. The suspension was stirred slowly overnight in the cold room at 4°C and then centrifuged to give supernatant 2. Supernatant fractions 3 and 4 were obtained similarly after overnight suspension of the pellets and centrifugation. Fractions 2, 3, and 4 were dialyzed overnight at 4°C against 1 mM phosphate buffer, pH 7.0. The supernatants were then centrifuged at 80,000 x g for 75 minutes to remove any residue and assayed for AChE activity and protein.

b) Ammonium Sulphate Precipitation

12.5 g of (NH4)₂SO₄ was added slowly with constant stirring to every 100 ml of the combined supernatant fractions. The mixture was stirred for 30 minutes and centrifuged at 14,000 x g for 40 minutes. The supernatant fluid was removed for further precipitation by adding 26.5 g of (NH4)₂SO₄ to every 100 ml and the above procedure was repeated. The second protein precipitate was redissolved in the smallest possible volume of 10 mM phosphate buffer pH 7.0 (100 ml; 5-6 mg of protein/ml), dialyzed overnight against 1 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) and centrifuged at 14,000 x g for 40 minutes to remove any insoluble residue.

c) Affinity Chromatography

The affinity gel was synthesized from modified Affinose-202 and m-trimethylammoniumaniline as described by Chan et al (30). AChE preparations obtained after $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ precipitation were applied to a 5-10 ml bed volume of the affinity gel. The

bound material was washed with (750-1000 ml) 100 mM NaCl at pH 8.0. The elution of AChE was carried out with 10 bed volumes of 10 mM edrophonium chloride in 100 mM NaCl at pH 8.0. The eluted fractions (each equal to a bed volume) were dialyzed overnight to remove the edrophonium chloride. AChE activity and protein concentration of each fraction were determined and active fractions were pooled, concentrated and then applied to a Sephadex G-200 column.

d) Sephadex G-200 Filtration

One ml of the concentrated AChE preparation was applied to a previously equilibrated Sephadex G-200 column (1.3 x 100 cm). Elution was carried out with 200 ml of 30 mM phosphate buffer pH 7.0, at a flow rate of 7-8 ml/h. Fractions of 1.8 ml were collected and assayed for AChE activity. Active fractions were pooled and concentrated. The single peak of AChE obtained by affinity chromatography was eluted as three active peaks (A, B, and C). The average specific activity of each peak was 580 (A), 535 (B), and 610 (C) mmoles of ATC hydrolyzed/mg of protein/h.

2. Microsomal Fractions

Caudate nucleus tissue cleared of white matter and blood capillaries was homogenized in 9 volume of 0.32 M sucrose containing 1 mM EDTA adjusted to pH 6.9 with tris (hydroxymethyl) aminoethane. Subcellular fractionation was carried out in a Lourdes Model A₂ Betafuge using a 9RA rotor according to the fractionation scheme shown in Figure 3. The final microsomal pellets were resuspended in 0.32 M sucrose containing 1 mM
10% Homogenate centrifuge 600 x g 10 min ->Pellet __wash with 1 vol -> Nuclear pellet centrifuge 600 x g 10 min Supernatant + wash ----centrifuge 10,000 x g 15 min wash x 2 with 0.5 vol , Mitochondrial ->Pellet centrifuge 10,000 x g #1 pellet 15 min Supernatant washes← centrifuge 20,000 x g 60 min wash with l vol →Pellet _ ->Mitochondrial centrifuge 10,000 x g #2 pellet 15 min Supernatant Supernatant centrifuge Supernatant <-20,000 x g 60 min Microsomal pellet

Figure 3. Fractionation scheme for microsomal fraction.

EDTA with a Dounce homogenizer. The final protein concentration was 16-20 mg/ml. Small aliquots of the suspension were stored at -10°C until use.

3. Preparation of Synaptosomal Fractions

A 10% homogenate of the caudate tissue was prepared in 0.32 M sucrose. Subcellular fractionation of the homogenate was carried out by the procedure of De Robertis et al (41) which is presented in Figure 4. The crude mitochondrial fraction was submitted to osmotic shock in distilled water and centrifuged at 20,000 x g for 30 minutes. The pellets were resuspended in 0.32 M sucrose and carefully layered on a sucrose density gradient and centrifuged at 50,000 x g for 2 hours. Finally, 5 layers and a pellet were obtained. Fractions 2 and 3 were separated carefully and combined for measuring AChE activity and protein concentration. Fraction 1 consisted principally of myelin, fraction 4 contained synaptic membrane with some mitochondria and fraction 5 was predominantly mitochondrial in nature.

4. Preparation of Na⁺-K⁺ Adenosinetriphosphatase

a) Homogenization and Subcellular Fractionation

The cerebral cortices (gray matter) of beef brains were cleared of membrane and blood capillaries. Gray matter was scraped off with a spatula and homogenized in 9 volumes of 0.32 M sucrose containing 1 mM EDTA, pH 6.9. Subcellular fractionation of the homogenate was carried out according to the fractionation scheme previously discussed and shown in



Figure 3 in a Lourdes Model A₂ Betafuge at 0-4°C using a 9 RA rotor. The final pellet (microsomal) some of which probably also contained mitochondria was resuspended with a Dounce homogenizer in 0.32 M sucrose EDTA solution and protein concentration was adjusted to 18-22 mg/ml. The microsomal fraction was stored at -10°C until used or treated either with lubrol or NaI as desired.

b) Lubrol Extraction of the Microsomal Fraction

A 0.4% lubrol solution (w/v) in 0.32 M sucrose containing 1 mM EDTA, pH adjusted to 6.9 with tris buffer was added to an equal volume of the microsomal fraction, resulting in a final lubrol concentration of 0.2%, which was found to be optimal for Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase extraction (160). This suspension was homogenized in a Dounce homogenizer (B pestle) using 10 strokes. It was kept on ice for 15 minutes. The suspension was then centrifuged in a FA 40 rotor of a Spinco Model L centrifuge at 100,000 x g for 1 hour. The supernatant was removed and stored in a refrigerator for immediate use of frozen at -10°C for longer storage (3 weeks) and the pellet was discarded. The supernatant had a protein concentration of 2.5-3 mg/ml.

c) Sodium Iodide Treatment of the Microsomal Fraction

The microsomal fraction was diluted with 0.32 M sucrose 1 mM EDTA solution to give a protein concentration between 2-5 mg/ml. The NaI treatment was carried out by the procedure of Schwartz et al (157) with the following minor modifications.

The precipitate was washed with 5 mM EDTA and was centrifuged at 50,000 x g for 15 minutes. The above washing and centrifugation was repeated twice. The final pellet was resuspended in 0.32 M sucrose to give a protein concentration of 1-1.2 mg/ml and kept frozen until use.

5. Assays and Procedures

a) Acetylcholinesterase

AChE activity was determined using the thiocholine colorimetric procedure of Ellman et al (47) at 25°C using a Perkin-Elmer Model 356 two wavelength double-beam Spectrophotometer connected to a Perkin-Elmer Model 165 Recorder. The reaction mixture contained phosphate buffer, 0.1 M; 5,5-dithiobis-2-nitrobenzoic acid (DTNB), 10 mM; acetylthiocholine, 1 mM; protein and deionized water in a final volume of 3.0 ml. Tris buffer, 75 mM, was used instead of phosphate in some of the experiments. To study the effect of cyclopropane all the contents except the substrate were placed in the optical cuvette, a modified Thunberg tube (Figure 5). The desired gas pressure was measured to the nearest milimeter by means of a meter scale attached to a closed end manometer. For gas pressures above one atmosphere a specially designed stainless steel chamber with a quartz cell was used (Figure 6). The gas was introduced in to the system at the desired pressure and 5 minutes were allowed for gas equilibration before starting the reaction with substrate ATC (0.1 mM to 10 mM). The control AChE activity was measured in the presence of air at the same pressure. The



Figure 5. Thunberg tube with an optical cuvette.



Figure 6. Airtight steel chamber with a quartz cell.

effects of cyclopropane were also examined on DTNB and nonenzymatic hydrolysis of ATC.

To study the relationship between AChE and $Na^+-K^+-ATPase$, AChE activity was measured at 37°C. The solutions were mixed with a stirrer and incubated at 37°C for 10 minutes. In all the experiments (apart from those where the experimental conditions are specifically mentioned), the final concentrations of NaCl were 110 mM; KCl, 10 mM; MgCl₂, 5 mM; and ATP, 5 mM. The final protein concentrations ranged from 200 to 300 ug/ml. ATP was added to the reaction mixture just before the substrate (acetylthiocholine), however, preincubation with ATP (up to 15 minutes) did not change the degree of inhibitory effect on AChE activity. The pH was measured before and after the reaction and did not change more than 0.05 pH units. The term "basic" AChE activity is used to describe AChE activity without the addition of any salts and "stimulated" AChE activity is that activity in the presence of salts. Basic AChE activity (acetylthiocholine as substrate) was 27.2 umoles/mg protein/h at pH 8.0 and 37°C. Activity with butyrylthiocholine as substrate was approximately 1% of this value.

b) Na⁺-K⁺-Adenosinetriphosphatase

The solution used for the assay of ATPase activity contained ATP (tris salt), 5 mM; KCl, 10 mM; NaCl, 110 mM; MgSO₄, 5 mM; tris buffer, 75 mM; and the enzyme in a total volume of 0.5 ml. Protein concentration was 200-300 ug/ml. A 0.25 ml aliquot was taken after the reaction was stopped

with .05 ml of 10% perchloric acid (PCA) and phosphate was determined by the method of Martin and Doty (106). Na^+-K^+- ATPase activity was also determined by recording the rate of oxidation of NADH spectrophotometrically, at a wavelength of 340 mu, employing a linked enzyme system by the procedure of Albers and Koval (6). The reaction scheme is as shown below:



Each cuvette contained (in final concentration) MgCl₂, 5 mM; NaCl, 110 mM; KCl, 10 mM; tris HCl, 25 mM; (pH 7.5), tris ATP, 2.5 mM; NADH, 0.5 mM; phosphoenolpyruvic acid and 0.02 ml of a combined pyruvate kinase-lactic dehydrogenase suspension in a final volume of 1.9 ml. The reaction was started after proper temperature equilibration, by the addition of Na^+-K^+- ATPase preparation (containing 50-100 ug of lubrol solubilized protein). Reaction (a) is rate limiting, and the oxidation of NADH is directly proportional to the amount of ATP hydrolyzed by Na^+-K^+ -ATPase. This linked procedure is superior to the standard phosphate method in that a) it constantly removes ADP which is inhibitory to the ATPase reaction, b) a constant steady state level of substrate ATP is maintained, and c) it monitors a continuous reaction for a longer period of time. It also enables one to study the initial reaction rates. Some problems of this system should also be mentioned

since pyruvate kinase requires K^+ -ion, Mg^{++} -dependent ATPase cannot be directly measured. However, this problem is insignificant, since the preparation used contained very low amounts of Mg^{++} -ATPase and $Mg^{++}-K^+$ -ATPase activities. It was important, therefore, to study the effects of gases on pyruvate kinase and lactate dehydrogenase to make any reasonable statement of gas effects on Na^+-K^+ -ATPase.

c) Lactate Dehydrogenase

Lactate dehydrogenase (LD) activity was estimated spectrophotometrically by following NADH oxidation at 340 mu by the procedure of Kubowitz and Ott (95). The reaction medium contained potassium phosphate, 50 mM (pH 7.4); NADH, 0.17 mM; and sodium pyruvate, 0.7 mM; in a final volume of 3 ml. The reaction was started with the enzyme preparation (.005 units activity) after temperature equilibration and followed in a Perkin Elmer Model 356 two wavelength double-beam Spectrophotometer.

d) Pyruvate Kinase Lactate Dehydrogenase

The combined PK-LD activity was recorded spectrophotometrically by following NADH oxidation at 340 mu by the procedure of Neglein (124). Each cuvette contained: NADH, 0.15 mM; PEP, 1.78 mM; MgSo4, 10 mM; KCl, 45 mM; tris buffer, 50 mM; and .005 units of PK-LD suspension in a final volume of 3.0 ml. The reaction was started by adding ADP, 1.5 mM.

6. Protein

Protein was determined by the procedure of Lowry et al (102). Bovine serum was used as standard. Since some of the preparations contained sucrose and sucrose lubrol, their effects were observed on the Lowry's procedure. There was no effect of sucrose or lubrol on this method.

7. Gasing Procedures

a) Gas Manifold Technique

To study the reversibility of cyclopropane inhibited Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase, a gas manifold technique was used and the apparatus is shown in Figure 7. All the solutions mentioned before in the phosphate assay procedure were placed (the total volume in this case was 2.5 ml, because it was difficult to draw aliquots using a syringe) in the flasks with side arms sealed with rubber caps. The flasks were attached to a vacuum line and the contents were degassed using a vacuum pump (Hyvac 7, Central Scientific Co.). The reaction was started by the addition of substrate ATP through the side arm. Control readings were taken every minute for 4 minutes. Gas was introduced into the system and equilibration was facilitated by magnetic stirring. The gas pressure was read on the pressure gauge and remained constant at the given temperature. Aliquots were removed through the side arms of the vessels and reaction was stopped by adding 0.05 ml of 10% perchloric acid. The same apparatus was used to study the effects of cyclopropane on the phosphorylation and the dephosphorylation of the enzyme.



Figure 7. Airtight reaction chamber apparatus.

b) Pressure Bomb

The lubrol solubilized microsomal ATPase was subjected to various pressures of cyclopropane and other gases in a pressure bomb which is shown in Figure 8. It was constructed from stainless steel and holds twelve specially designed reactions tubes. These tubes have a central well and a side arm. Into the side arm substrate ATP was added and other reactants (ions, buffer, protein and water) were placed in the central well to give a final volume of 0.5 ml at pH 6.9. Since the enzyme activity and the gas effects were measured at different temperatures (15°-37°), the pressure bomb had to be left overnight in a temperature controlled room to achieve the desired temperature. The tubes containing the reaction mixture were placed in the air tight bomb and degassed on the vacuum for 1 minute. Gas was then added to the desired pressure and the entire system was allowed to equilibrate for 15 minutes before the reaction was started with ATP. The bomb was tipped 90° in the opposite direction from the original positions, 10 times. The reaction was allowed to proceed for a specified time, 10-20 minutes.

The gas was then released from the chamber and 0.05 ml of 10% perchloric acid was rapidly added to each reaction tube to stop the reaction. Each tube was immediately shaken 3-4 times so that any reaction occurring in the side arm was also stopped. An aliquot of 0.25 ml of the reaction mixture was taken for phosphate determination. Since cyclopropane was used at gas pressures above one atmosphere, it was impor-



Figure 8. Stainless-steel pressure bomb.

tant to rule out the effects of pressure per se. So the enzyme activity was also measured in the presence of air, nitrogen, and hydrostatic pressure (1-4 ATM). The apparatus used to study the effect of hydrostatic pressure on lubrol Na^+-K^+ -ATPase is shown in Figure 9.

8. Labelling Procedure

The NaI treated enzyme was labelled by the addition of ATP $(\chi^{-32}p)$ 10⁶ cpm by the procedure of Nagano et al (123). The final concentration of $AT^{32}p$ in the reaction medium was 0.5-5 mM. The reaction was carried out at 0°C using the gas manifold apparatus. All the contents of the assay medium except the substrate $AT^{32}p$ were placed in the flasks which were continuously stirred. The reaction was started by injecting AT³²p from the side arm using a Hamilton Syringe. The reaction was stopped after 15 seconds by injecting 3 ml of ice cold 3% perchloric acid containing 10 mM NaH₂PO₄ and 0.1 mM ATP as diluting carriers. To study the effects of cyclopropane the contents were equilibrated with the gas at the desired pressure for 10 minutes before starting the reaction with the $AT^{32}p$. Gas effects were observed a) on the phosphorylation of protein, i.e., in the presence of sodium and magnesium ions and no potassium, and b) on the dephosphorylation of protein where all the above ions were present. The centrifugation, washings and homogenizations of the labelled protein were carried out as described by Nagano et al (123). The final precipitate was suspended uniformly in 2 ml of water and 6 ml of aquasol. A portion of the supernatant was saved



Figure 9. Hydrostatic pressure apparatus.

after each washing. Radioactivity was measured in the final pellet and in each wash using a Packard Tricarb Liquid Scintillation Spectrometer, Model 3375. The efficiency of the system was determined using internal standard method (180) and it varied from 79-85%.

A. Interactions of Cyclopropane with Brain Acetylcholinesterase

1. Properties of a Membrane Bound and Purified Forms of Brain Acetylcholinesterase

Since most of the studies of gas interactions with AChE were carried out on a membrane-bound (synaptosomal) and three purified forms of the enzyme from beef caudate tissue, the general properties of these preparations were examined The average specific activity of synaptosomal (Table I). AChE was 45 umoles of ATC hydrolyzed/mg protein/h. The substrate optimum, pH and Km values were found to be similar to those values found for other preparations of brain enzyme. The average specific activity of the three purified forms was 580 (A), 535 (B), and 610 (C) mmoles of ATC hydrolyzed/mg protein/h. These three forms exhibited some differences in kinetic properties. Forms A and B showed similar pH optima (8.0), substrate optimum (1 mM ATC) and apparent Km values (.14-.15 mM). Form C with the smallest molecular weight had a broad pH optimum (7.5-8.0), lower substrate optimum (0.5 mM) and was characterized by a higher Km value (.23 mM).

2. Effect of Varying Cyclopropane Pressure on Enzyme Activity

Since it is possible to obtain increased gas solubilities with increasing gas pressures AChE activity was measured over a pressure range of .025 to 3 ATM of cyclopropane and air in all the preparations. Results are shown for Form C in Figure 10 but quantitatively similar results were obtained for the membrane-bound and the purified forms. The degree of TABLE I. PROPERTIES OF MEMBRANE BOUND AND

MULTIPLE FORMS OF BRAIN ACHE

AChE Form	Mol. Wt.	Specific Activity (mmol of ATC/mg/h)	pH Optimum	Substrate Optimum (mM)	Km (MM)
А	390,000	580	8.1	1.0	0.14
£	270,000	535	8.0	1.0	0.15
U	130,000	610	7.5-8.0	0.5	0.23
Membrane Bound		. 045	8.0	1.0	0.10

ACHE forms A, B, and C from bovine caudate nucleus tissue were separated by Sephadex G-200 filtration affinity chromatography. Membrane-bound ACHE was isolated from nerve endings. Their molecular weights were determined as described in Methods. Enzyme activity was determined by the acetylthiocholine (ATC) method at 25°C and pH 8.0. Data given represent the average of 3 experiments.



Figure 10. Pressure effect of cyclopropane on purified acetylcholinesterase, Form C. AChE activity was determined at room temperature at optimum pH (8.0) and at a substrate concentration (0.05 mM). Control AChE activity was 610,000 umoles ATC hydrolyzed/mg protein/hour. Each point is the mean of 4 separate experiments. Vertical bars represent S.E.M.

inhibition increased from 8% to 35% with increasing gas pressures up to 0.1 ATM and then remained constant (35%) over a range of 0.1-3.0 ATM of cyclopropane.

3. Sensitivity of Various AChE Preparations to Cyclopropane

The effect of cyclopropane was examined on AChE activity present in tissue homogenate, a mitochondrial fraction, a membrane-bound (synaptosomal) preparation and on the three purified forms at two substrate concentrations. The influence of cyclopropane at 0.1 atmosphere on these different preparations is shown in Table II. All these preparations were inhibited by cyclopropane and the degree of inhibition was less (15%) at the higher concentrations of the substrate and greater (35%) at the low concentrations of ATC used. There was no significant difference regarding sensitivity of the membrane-bound and the purified forms to cyclopropane at either substrate concentration.

4. Effect of Pre-Incubations with Cyclopropane

The influence of pre-incubation of all enzyme forms with the gas was studied since it was possible that the effect of cyclopropane on enzyme activity could vary with time of exposure to the gas. The incubation medium, i.e., all the reaction constituents except the substrate, was exposed to cyclopropane at 0.1 atmosphere for various periods of time (0-30 minutes) at room temperature. In the control experiments, the entire system was pre-incubated with air at 0.1 atmospheres for the specified time. At each time point, the reaction was started by the addition of the substrate ATC from the side TABLE II. EFFECT OF CYCLOPROPANE ON

DIFFERENT AChE PREPARATIONS

		Spec Low [5	sific Activity 3]	(тол атс/	protein/hr High [S	(
Preparation	Control	Gas	% Inhibition	Control	Gas	& Inhibition
Homogenate	110.	.007	37	.027	.0227	15
Mitochondrial Fraction	.007	.004	42	.018	.015	16
Synaptosomes	.015	.010	33	.040	.0346	13
Pure Form A	216 ± 5	155 <u>+</u> 3	28	580 ± 6	511 ± 8	12
Form B	185 <u>+</u> 8	135 ± 4	27	535 + 5	467 ± 4	12
Form C	220 ± 6	- 144 ± 4	34	610 ± 6	500 + 6	18

Control ACHE values were taken in air (0.1 ATM). Cyclopropane was used at a pressure of 0.1 ATM. Low [S] refers to 0.1 mM ATC except in case of Form C where it was 0.05 mM ATC. High [S] was 1.0 mM ATC except for Form C where it was 0.5 mM ATC. Data represents mean of 4-5 experiments <u>+</u> standard errors.

arm of the Thunburg tube. There was no significant difference in percent inhibition in all preparations at 0 and 30 minutes and the results of pre-incubation for Form C are shown in Table III. The results indicated that the onset of gas effect was immediate and eliminated the need for pre-incubation for subsequent experiments.

5. Reversal of AChE Activity after Cyclopropane Inhibition

Reversibility of the cyclopropane effect was examined in the AChE preparations mentioned to check the possibility of irreversible enzyme denaturation. Similar results were obtained for all of them. Figure 11 shows the reversal of gas effect on the purified form C at a gas pressure of 0.1 atmosphere. Control rate was determined for two minutes in the presence of air at 0.1 atmosphere. Then the reaction contents were degassed using a vacuum pump and cyclopropane was introduced at 0.1 atmosphere. The rate of ATC hydrolysis was measured again for 2-3 minutes. Cyclopropane inhibited the enzyme activity by 35% at 0.5 mM ATC. After removal of the gas, air was introduced again at the same pressure and the enzyme activity returned to approximately 95% of the initial control value, demonstrating reversibility of the cyclopropane effect. These experiments for measuring enzyme activity took about 12 minutes and the reaction rate was linear for about 15 minutes.

TABLE III. EFFECT OF PREINCUBATION WITH CYCLOPROPANE

ON THE AChE ACTIVITY

C/mg protein/hr)	% Inhibition	34	35	36	34
Activity (mmol AT	Cyclopropane (0.1 ATM)	144 ± 4	140 ± 2	140 ± 4	141 ± 3
Епгуте	Control	220 ± 6	218 ± 5	220 ± 6	215 ± 3
Time	(minutes)	0	2	15	30

Assays were performed on purified form C at room temperature using 0.5 mM ATC. Control values were taken in air at 0.1 atmospheres. Figures represent mean values for 4 different experiments <u>+</u> standard errors.



Figure 11. Return of acetylcholinesterase activity (Form C) following degasing. Control AChE activity at pH 8.0 and 0.05 mM ATC was taken for 3 minutes in the presence of air (0.1 atm). Cyclopropane at a gas pressure of 0.1 atm inhibited AChE activity. Each point represents mean of 4 different experiments. Vertical bars represent S.E.M.

6. Effect of Varying ATC Concentrations on the Cyclopropane

The effect of various substrate concentrations (.05-.5 mM ATC) was examined on the enzyme activity in the presence of air (control) and cyclopropane at a gas pressure of 0.1 ATM on the membrane-bound and the purified forms of AChE. A Lineweaver-Burk plot of cyclopropane effect on the purified form C at a gas pressure of 0.1 ATM is shown in Figure 12, but similar results were obtained for all the AChE preparations. Mixed inhibition was demonstrated by kinetic analysis and the most simple interpretation of this type of inhibition being that it involves both the competitive and non-competitive interactions of cyclopropane with the enzyme.

B. Interactions of Various Gases with Brain Adenosinetriphosphatase

1. Properties of Lubrol Solubilized Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase

Most of the studies of gas interactions with Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase were carried out on the lubrol solubilized form of the enzyme from beef cerebral cortex. The general properties of this preparation are given in Table IV. Ion activation conditions, substrate and pH optima and apparent Km values were similar to those values found for other preparations of the brain enzyme (156,159,176). Since it was anticipated that some experiments would be carried out at different temperatures, the enzyme reaction rate was measured at 15, 25, and 35°C (Figure 13). At the lowest temperature, reaction rate was linear up to 30 minutes, while at the higher temperature 15



Figure 12. Lineweaver-Burk plot of inhibition of purified acetylcholinesterase, Form C by cyclopropane (0.1 atm). Enzyme activity was determined at optimum pH (8.0) and substrate concentrations ranged from 0.05 to 0.5 mM ATC. Control enzyme activity was 610 mmoles ATC hydrolyzed/mg protein/hour at optimum substrate concentration (0.5 mM). TABLE IV. PROPERTIES OF LUBROL EXTRACTED Nat-Kt-

ACTIVATED ATPASE FROM BEEF BRAIN

- I. Effect of Na⁺ and K^+
- A. Activation by Na⁺ with 10 mM K⁺
- l. Maximal 100 mM Na⁺
- B. Activation by K⁺ with 100 mM Na⁺
- 1. Maximal 10 mM K⁺
- C. No activation by Na⁺ or K⁺ alone
- II. Enzyme concentration
- A. Linear 20-200 ugm Prot/ml incubation media
- B. Apparent Km 5.0 x 10⁻⁴ M
- C. Substrate inhibition 7.5 mM ATP and above
- IV. pH curve
- A. Optimal pH 6.8 in 100 mM imidazole



TIME (minutes)

Figure 13. Changes in lubrol solubilized Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity with time at 35°, 25°, and 15°C at pH optimum (6.9) and substrate optimum (5 mM ATP). Each point represents the mean of 3-4 separate experiments. Vertical bars represent S.E.M.

minutes was judged to be the maximum period over which a reaction could be examined while still maintaining linearity. Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity present in microsomal fractions or obtained by NaI treatment were not characterized so thoroughly since their properties have been well documented (155,156).

2. Effect of Various Cyclopropane Pressures on Lubrol Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase

Lubrol Na+-K⁺-ATPase activity was measured over a pressure range of 1-4 atmospheres of cyclopropane at optimum substrate (5 mM ATP) concentration at 37°C. Results of this experiment are shown in Table V. The degree of inhibition increased from 12% to 55% approximately with increasing gas pressures. This phenomenon may reflect the increased solubility of cyclopropane with increasing gas pressures. Since only a slight effect (10%) was observed at one atmosphere of gas, higher pressures will be used in subsequent experiments.

3. Sensitivity of Various Preparations of Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase to Cyclopropane

The effect of cyclopropane was also examined on Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity present in cerebral tissue homogenate, microsomal fraction prepared by differential centrifugation and on the enzyme preparation derived by NaI treatment of the microsomal pellet. The influence of cyclopropane at 3.5 atmospheres on these different preparations is shown in Table VI. All preparations were inhibited by the gas with no significant difference in the degree of inhibition. Cyclopropane at the pressure used in these experiments had no significant effect on Mg⁺⁺-ATPase activity (data not shown).

PRESSURE
CYCLOPROPANE
OF
INFLUENCE
۷.
TABLE

ON Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase ACTIVITY

r)	<pre>% Inhibition</pre>	12	26	36	60
/mg protein/h	opropane	Г	2	Ч	•5
(umoles Pi/	Cyclo	51	41	38	25
Activity					
Enzyme	Control	58 + 2	55 <u>+</u> 2	60 <u>+</u> 1	58 + 1
Cyclopropane (P-ATM)		1	7	e	4

Assays were performed at 37°C at pH optimum (6.9). Control values were taken at the optimum concentration of ATP (5 mM) at atmospheric pressure. Data represents mean value of 3-4 separate experiments <u>+</u> standard erros of mean. TABLE VI. EFFECT OF CYCLOPROPANE ON VARIOUS

Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase PREPARATIONS

Dronaration	Specific Activity	(umoles Pi/mg/hr)	e Trhihition
	Control	Cyclopropane 3.5 ATM	
Homogenate	16	10	38
Microsomes	26	15	42
Na I	43	22	49
Lubrol	58	28	51

Experiments were performed at 37° at optimum pH (6.9) and at 5 mM ATP concentration. Control values were taken at one atmospheric pressure. Figures represent mean values of 4 different experiments.

4. Effect of Pre-Incubation with Cyclopropane on the Lubrol Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase Activity

Since it was possible that the degree of cyclopropane inhibition of enzyme activity could vary with time of exposure to the gas, the influence of pre-incubation of enzyme with the gas was studied. Lubrol Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase preparation together with all reaction constituents except substrate were exposed to cyclopropane at 3.0 atmospheres for 5, 15, and 30 minutes at 37°C. At each time, the reaction was initiated by the addition of substrate from the side arm of the reaction vessel. In the control experiments the entire system was degassed for one minute and left for the specified time before starting the reaction with ATP. There was no significant difference in the degree of inhibition from 5 to 30 minutes as is shown in Table VII. For all subsequent experiments 10 minute pre-incubation time was selected.

5. Reversal of Cyclopropane Inhibitory Effect

Although cyclopropane affected the enzyme activity at pressures below 1 atmosphere, significant inhibition required higher gas pressures. Under such conditions it was possible that the enzyme preparation could undergo an irreversible denaturation. To examine this possibility, experiments were performed using the 'Gas-Manifold' apparatus described in 'Methods.' Control rates of lubrol enzyme activity were determined at 2 and 4 minutes in the presence of air at atmospheric pressure. The entire system was then degassed and cyclopropane was introduced at 2.3 atmospheres. Samples were taken for determination of enzyme reaction rate at 8 and

TABLE VII. EFFECT OF PREINCUBATION WITH

CYCLOPROPANE ON ENZYME ACTIVITY

mg/hr) 8 Inhibition	opane TM	1 47	1 48	0 48
tivity (umoles/	Cyclopr 3 A	19 +	20 +	22 ±
Enzyme Act	Control	38 <u>+</u> 1	39 ± 1	43 ± 1
Time	(minutes)	'n	15	30

Assays were performed at 37°. Media was degassed and pre-incubated for the specified times with or without gas. Figures represent mean values for 3 distinct experiments <u>+</u> standard error of mean.

10 minutes. The system was then degassed to remove cyclopropane and air permitted to enter at atmospheric pressure. The enzyme reaction rate was then determined at 14 and 16 minutes. The results of these experiments are shown in Table VIII. Cyclopropane at 2.3 atmospheres caused a 35% inhibition of Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity. After removal of the gas, the enzyme activity returned to approximately 95% of the initial control value, demonstrating almost complete reversibility of the cyclopropane effect. These experiments involved estimation of enzyme activity over a 16 minute time period and at 25°C, Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase reaction rate was linear for 20 minutes (Figure 13).

6. Sensitivity of Lubrol Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase to N₂, or O₂ and Hydrostatic Pressure

Since gas pressure above 1 atmosphere was required to observe a marked effect of cyclopropane on Na^+-K^+ -ATPase activity, it was necessary to determine if cyclopropane inhibition was specifically due to cyclopropane or due to pressure per se. In these experiments, the influence of nitrogen, oxygen and hydrostatic pressure all at 4.3 atmospheres was examined on lubrol Na^+-K^+ -ATPase preparation (Figure 14). The control value represents the enzyme activity in the presence of air at atmospheric pressure. Hydrostatic pressure, nitrogen and oxygen all stimulated the enzyme activity by 10-12% unlike cyclopropane, which at the same pressure, inhibited the enzyme activity by approximately 50%. Subsequent attempts were made (see later) to examine the nature of the small but

TABLE VIII. REVERSAL OF CYCLOPROPANE

INHIBITED Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase

Time (minutes)	Enzyme Rate umoles/mg protein	\$ Change
2-4 Air atmospheric pressure	0.73 <u>+</u> .04	8
8-10 Cyclopropane 2.3 ATM	0.47 ± .06	- 35 -
14-16 Air	0.70 ± .04	- 4

Control enzyme rate was determined at room temperature, at pH 6.9 and at optimum substrate concentration (5 mM ATP) in the presence of air at atmospheric pressure. Figures represent mean values of 4 distinct experiments <u>+</u> standard errors of mean.


Figure 14. Effect of hydrostatic pressure, nitrogen, oxygen and cyclopropane (4.3 atm) on lubrol Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity. Control enzyme activity was 58.5 umoles Pi/mg protein/hour, at 37°C, pH 6.9 and substrate optimum (5 mM ATP) in the presence of air at atmospheric pressure. Data represents mean of 4 individual experiments. Vertical bars represent S.E.M. significant stimulating action of the other gases. The data clearly suggests that while pressure per se may influence Na^+-K^+-ATP ase activity, the inhibitory action of cyclopropane is specific for this gas.

7. Influence of Temperature on Cyclopropane Inhibition of Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase

The results of studies on the influence of temperature (15°-35%) on the enzyme inhibition by cyclopropane at 3.5 atmospheres are shown in Table IX. Cyclopropane inhibited the enzyme activity by 50% at the higher temperature and the degree of inhibition increased to 70% at 15°C as might be predicted by the increased gas solubility at the lower temperatures. An arrhenius plot of log of specific activity versus reciprocal of absolute temperature is shown in Figure 15. Inflections occur in the plots between 25-30° points, both in the absence and presence of cyclopropane.

8. Effect of N₂, Compressed Air and O₂ on Enzyme Activity as a Function of Substrate Concentration

The effects of N_2 , compressed air and oxygen were examined on Na^+-K^+ -ATPase activity at 4.3 atmospheres, since no significant effects were observed in the presence of various substrate: (ATP) concentrations and the results of this experiment is shown in Table X. At lower substrate concentrations, both N_2 and compressed air inhibited the lubrol Na^+-K^+ -ATPase activity by 13-17% but stimulation was observed at the higher concentrations of ATP. Similar results were obtained with oxygen (data not shown). Since hydrostatic pressure also stimulated the enzyme activity by approximately

ACTIVITY	
a+-K+-ATPase	
FECT ON N	
WTURE EFI	
X. TEMPER	
TABLE I	

AND CYCLOPROPANE INHIBITION OF ENZYME SYSTEM

tein/hr) % Inhibition	pane 1	52	56	60	11
(umoles/mg pro	Cyclopro 3.5 ATI	25 <u>+</u> 1	0 + 6	4 + 0	0 +1 T
Enzyme Activity	Control	53 + 2	21 ± 1	11 ± 1	5 + 0
Temperature 1°C)	5	35°	25°	20°	15°

Enzymatic assays were performed in the reaction media buffered with 20 mM imidazole at pH 6.9 at 5 mM ATP concentration. Data represents mean values. from 3 separate experiments <u>+</u> standard error.



Figure 15. Arrhenius plot of inhibition of Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity by cyclopropane. Control enzyme activity at 35°C was 58.5 umoles/mg protein/hour at optimum pH (6.9) and at 5 mM ATP. Temperature varied from 15° to 35°. Each point represents mean of 4-5 distinct experiments. Vertical bars represent S.E.M.

TABLE X. EFFECT OF 4.3 ATM OF N2 AND COMPRESSED

AIR ON Na+-K+-ATPase ACTIVITY

& Change	-13	-12	+1	+13	+19
Compressed Air	23 <u>+</u> 1	35 ± 0	49 <u>+</u> 1	59 ± 2	69 + 0
% Change	-17	-17	1+	+19	+24
N2	22 <u>+</u> 0	33 + 1	49 + 0	61 ± 1	72 <u>+</u> 2
Control Specific Activity (umoles/mg protein/hr)	27 ± 0	40 ± 0	48 ± 1	51 ± 2	58 <u>+</u> 1
[ATP Concentration] mM	.5	1.0	2.0	3.0	5.0

Effect of 4.3 atmospheres of N_2 and compressed air was determined on the Na^+-K^+-ATP ase activity at 37°C. Substrate concentration ranged from .5 to 5 mM ATP. Control enzyme activity was measured in the presence of air at 1 atmosphere. Figures represent mean values of 3 distinct experiments + standard error.

12% (Figure 14) one could interpret these gas effects to be non-specific. However, this does not appear to be the case, as at the lower substrate concentrations, hydrostatic pressure also stimulated Na^+-K^+ -ATPase activity unlike with N_2 , 0_2 , and compressed air, inhibition of the enzyme activity was observed.

9. Kinetics of Cyclopropane Inhibition of Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase

The effect of various substrate concentrations (0.5-5 mM ATP) on the activity of lubrol enzyme at atmospheric control and at gas pressures of 3.5 and 2.0 atmospheres was examined. The results indicated that a concentration of 5 mM ATP gave optimal enzyme activity in the presence of air at atmospheric pressure and also maximum inhibition of the enzyme activity at both gas pressures used. Reciprocal Lineweaver-Burk plots of the enzyme activity versus substrate concentrations are shown in Figure 1⁶. The degree of inhibition increased with increasing substrate concentration, in other words inhibition by cyclopropane appeared to be substrate-promoted. This type of inhibition is not frequently observed and has been referred to as 'Exclusive C Type' or uncompetitive inhibition (137).

10. Cyclopropane Action on Phosphorylation and Dephosphorylation of Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase

A number of steps have been postulated in the ATP hydrolytic reaction sequence (3,6,163,170). Perhaps the two with which there is most agreement are those involving Na⁺ and Mg⁺⁺-dependent phosphorylation and the subsequent K⁺-dependent dephosphorylation of the enzyme. Cyclopropane effect at 2.5



Figure 16. Lineweaver-Burk plot of inhibition of Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity by two concentrations of cyclopropane. Substrate concentration ranged from 0.5 to 5 mM ATP. Control enzyme activity at 37° was 58.5 umoles/mg protein/hour at optimum pH (6.9) in the presence of air at atmospheric pressure. Each point represents mean value of 4 distinct experiments. Vertical bars represent S.E.M.

atmosphere was examined on the phosphorylation and dephosphorylation of the NaI treated Na^+-K^+ -ATPase and the results are shown in Table XI. The phosphorylation of the protein occurred quickly (15 seconds) in the presence of Na⁺ and Mg⁺⁺ ions in the presence of air at atmospheric pressure. Cyclopropane at 2.5 atmospheres inhibited this step by approximately 39%. Quantitatively, the same degree of inhibition (35%) was observed when Na^+ , K^+ , and Mg^{++} ions were present in the incubation medium, demonstrating that cyclopropane did not inhibit the dephosphorylation of the enzyme. This is a very indirect method of studying gas effect on the dephosphorylation of the enzyme. The effect of different concentrations of K^+ was studied on Na⁺- K^+ -ATPase activity in the presence of cyclopropane at 4 atmospheres. The results of this experiment are shown in Table XII. Increasing concentrations of K^+ up to 50 mM did not change the degree of cyclopropane inhibition of $Na^+-K^+-ATPase$.

11. Influence of Substrate Concentration on Cyclopropane Inhibition of Phosphorylation

The influence of $AT^{32}p$ concentrations (.5-5 mM) on the phosphorylation of NaI treated Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase in the presence of air at atmospheric pressure and cyclopropane (2.5 atm), was examined and the data is shown in Table XIII. The degree of inhibition was 8% at the low substrate concentration and increased to 36% at the optimum substrate concentration, demonstrating again that the inhibition of phosphorylation of the protein is substrate promoted. A Lineweaver-Burk plot of

ORPORATION
INC
p32
NO
CYCLOPROPANE
0F
EFFECT
XI.
TABLE

INTO A BRAIN ATPASE PREPARATION

Phosphorylated Protein & Change (umoles p32/mg protein)	- 220 ± 6	+ Cyclopropane 135 ± 3 -38	$+ + K^{+}$ 140 ± 4 -	+ K^+ Cyclopropane 88 \pm 3 -34
Additions	Na+ + Mg ⁺⁺	Na ⁺ + Mg ⁺⁺ + Cyclopro	Na+ + Mg ⁺⁺ + K ⁺	Na ⁺ + Mg ⁺⁺ + K ⁺ Cyclo

The microsomes 1-1.2 mg/ml were incubated with Na⁺, 110 mM; K⁺, 10 mM; Mg⁺⁺, 5 mM; in tris buffer 40 mM at pH 7.7. Reaction mixture was equilibrated with or without cyclopropane (2.5 ATM) for 10 minutes at 0° stirring continuously. The figures represent mean of 4 to 5 distinct experiments \pm standard error.

TABLE XII. EFFECT OF CYCLOPROPANE ON Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase ACTIVITY

AT DIFFERENT POTASSIUM CONCENTRATIONS

<pre>% Inhibition</pre>	38	43	38	39	42
(umoles Pi/mg Protein/hr) Cyclopropane 4 ATM	12 ± 1	11 ± 0	12 ± 1	13 ± 1	12 ± 0
Enzyme Activity Control	19 ± 1	20 ± 1	20 ± 1	20 ± 0	21 ± 2
K ⁺ Concentration (mM)	2.5	5.0	10.0	25.0	50.0

Assays were performed at room temperature in 20 mM imidazole buffer (pH 6.9) at optimum substrate concentration (5 mM). Figures represent mean values of 4 experiments <u>+</u> standard errors.

PHOSPHORYLATION
THE
NO
CYCLOPROPANE
OF
EFFECT
XIII.
TABLE

OF PROTEIN AT VARIOUS [S] CONCENTRATIONS

<pre>% Inhibition</pre>		80	24	28	35
ated Protein 2/mg Protein)	CYCLOPIOPAUS (2.5 ATM)	114 <u>+</u> 3	126 ± 3	150 <u>+</u> 5	180 ± 6
Phosphoryls (umoles p3)		125 ± 5	166 ± 4	210 ± 7	280 ± 8
ATP Concentration (mM)		0.5	1.25	2.5	5.0

Proteins 1-1.2 mg/ml were incubated with Na⁺, 110 mM, Mg⁺⁺, 5 mM, EDTA, 5 mM in tris buffer, 40 mM at pH 7.7. Reaction mixture was continuously stirring at 0°. Time was allowed for gas to equilibrate. Values represent mean of 4 separate experiments <u>+</u> standard error.

the data is shown in Figure 17 and this type of inhibition is referred to as "uncompetitive" (137).

- C. A Study of the Possible Functional Relationship Between Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase and AChE
 - Properties of Microsomal AChE and Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase

In most of these studies, a microsomal preparation from ox caudate nucleus tissue was used, so the general properties of AChE and $Na^+-K^+-ATPase$ were examined (Table XIV). The substrate optimum (.75-1 mM ATC), pH optimum (7.8) and apparent Km values for AChE were found to be similar to those values found for other brain preparations. For Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase, the substrate optimum was 5.0 mM ATP, and pH optimum 6.8. Assays were performed in 75 mM tris buffer and there was no effect of tris buffer on AChE and Na^+-K^+ -ATPase activity up to a concentration of 200 mM. Both monovalent and divalent cations stimulated AChE and Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activities. Optimal activation of AChE activity occurred with 110-150 mM Na⁺, 5 mM Mg⁺⁺ and 30 mM K⁺. Maximal activation of "Ion-Transport"-ATPase activity also occurred with the same ionic concentrations except for the concentration of K⁺ which gave optimal stimulation at 10 mM.

2. Effect of Cations on AChE Activity

The effect of Na⁺, K⁺, and Mg⁺⁺ ions alone and in combination was examined on the microsomal AChE activity at pH 6.9 which is optimum for "Ion-Transport"-ATPase and at pH 8.0, optimal for AChE activity (Table XV). Each cation stimulated the AChE activity and the activation was greater at pH 6.9, than at pH 8.0. Ion activation appeared to be a complex



Figure 17. Lineweaver-Burk plot of cyclopropane inhibition (2.5 atm) of p32 incorporation (1/V) into a NaI treated microsomal fraction. Substrate concentration ranged from 0.5 to 5 mM AT³²P. Each point is mean of 4 different experiments. Vertical bars represent S.E.M.

TABLE XIV. SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES OF MICROSOMAL ACHE

AND Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase FROM BEEF BRAIN

囧	ł
ACh	

Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase

1. Substrate Concentration

TABLE XV. ION ACTIVATION OF ACETYLCHOLINESTERASE ACTIVITY

Ions Added	& Activa	tion
	At pH 6.9	At pH 8.0
Mg2+	24.5 ± 0.8	13.4 ± 0.9
К+	8.5 ± 1.0	7.3 ± 0.6
Na+	25.5 ± 0.4	3.5 ± 0.5
Nat - Kt	21.0 ± 0.6	12.8 ± 0.8
Nat - Mg ²⁺	26.5 ± 0.4	5.4 ± 0.5
$K^{+} - Mg^{2+}$	17.0 ± 1.1	9.8 ± 0.6
Na ⁺ - K ⁺ - Mg ²⁺	25.0 ± 0.8	8.7 ± 0.8

Control AChE activity at pH 8.0 and pH 6.9 was 27.2 and 20.3 (umoles acetylthiocholine hydrolyzed/mg protein/h), respectively at 37° C. The concentrations of ions used were Na⁺, 110 mM; K⁺, 10 mM; Mg²⁺, 5 mM with 75 mM tris buffer. Standard deviations were derived from 4 enzyme preparations.

phenomenon, depending in part on pH. For example, at pH 6.9, Mg⁺⁺ or Na⁺ alone or in combination activated AChE activity to the same extent (25%). At pH 8.0, Mg⁺⁺ activated the enzyme more than K⁺ and K⁺ more than Na⁺. Na⁺ and K⁺ activation seem to add, but when combined with Mg⁺⁺, they partially inhibit the Mg⁺⁺ stimulation of AChE activity.

3. Effect of ATP on AChE Activity

Since optimal activation of the "basic" (without the addition of any cations) AChE activity was observed at the pH optimum for "Ion-Transport"-ATPase, the effect of ATP on the "basic" and "ion-stimulated" enzyme activity was examined (Table XVI). ATP at concentrations up to 10 mM had no effect on the "basic" AChE activity but 5 mM ATP in the presence of Na⁺, K⁺ and Mg⁺⁺ ions decreased the ion activation of AChE.

4. Effect of Varying ATP Concentration on Ion Activated AChE

ATP decreased the ion activated AChE activity in a concentration dependent manner as shown in Figure 18. Maximal decrease (80%) occurred at 5 mM ATP, the optimal substrate concentration for Na^+-K^+ -ATPase activity. Higher concentrations of ATP (up to 10 mM) also exhibited the same degree of inhibition. The effect of ATP (5 mM) was also examined in the presence of Na^+ , K^+ , and Mg^{++} ions either alone or in various combinations at pH 6.9. ATP inhibition of ion activated AChE activity was also a complex phenomenon as shown by the results in Table XVII. There was a variable TABLE XVI. EFFECT OF NUCLEOTIDES ON

ACETYLCHOLINESTERASE ACTIVITY

Additions	Concentration (mM)	<pre>% Changes in Activity</pre>
АТР	S	
ATP	10	
Nat-Kt-Mg2+	110,10,5	+25.0 + 0.8
Na ⁺ -K ⁺ -Mg ²⁺ + ATP	110,10,5,5	+7.5 ± 0.4
Na ⁺ -K ⁺ -Mg ²⁺ + UTP	110,10,5,5	+8.0
Na ⁺ -K ⁺ -Mg ²⁺ + GTP	110,10,5,5	+10.1

Assays were performed at pH 6.9 at 37°C, in media con-taining 75 mM tris buffer. Percent changes are calculated from basic AChE activity (20.3) umoles/mg protein/h). When shown, <u>+</u> refers to standard deviations derived from 4 distinct experiments.



Figure 18. Effect of varying ATP concentration on Na⁺-K⁺ and Mg⁺⁺ stimulated AChE activity at pH 6.9 with 50 mM tris buffer. Each point represents mean value derived from 4 separate experiments. Vertical bars represent S.E.M.

TABLE XVII. EFFECT OF ATP ON ACTIVATED

AChE ACTIVITY

Ions	<pre>% Activation</pre>	<pre>% Activation with 5 mM ATP</pre>
Mg ²⁺	24 + 0.8	0+
Na+	25 + 1.0	$+15.0 \pm 0.5$
К+	8 + 0.4	$+7.5 \pm 0.4$
Na+-K+	21 + 0.6	$+16.5 \pm 0.5$
Na++Mg ²⁺	26 + 0.4	$+12.0 \pm 0.8$
K ⁺ +Mg ²⁺	17 ± 1.0	-10.6 ± 0.4
Na ⁺ +K ⁺ +Mg ²⁺	25 ± 0.8	+7.5 + 0.4

Experiments were performed at pH 6.9. Percent activation values were calculated from the basic AChE activity (20.3 umoles/mg protein/h). Concentration of Na⁺, 110 mM; K⁺, 10 mM; and Mg²⁺, 5 mM were used. Each value represents the mean of 4 individual experiments. \pm refers to standard deviations.

degree of inhibition depending on the combination of ions added. For example, in the presence of K^+ and/or Na⁺ (but no Mg⁺⁺) ATP inhibited only the ion activation of AChE. When K^+ and/or Mg⁺⁺ (but no Na⁺) was added, ATP inhibited both "ion activated" and "basic" AChE activity. The activation of AChE by 5 mM Mg⁺⁺ was completely inhibited by 5 mM ATP.

5. Effect of Varying Mg⁺⁺ Concentration on ATP Inhibition of Ion Activated AChE

The complete inhibition of Mg⁺⁺ activation of AChE by ATP suggested the possibility of complex formation between the cation and the nucleotide. However, this does not appear to be the case since increased concentrations of Mg⁺⁺ up to 20 mM did not overcome the ATP inhibition of the Mg⁺⁺ activated AChE activity (Table XVIII).

6. Effect of Other Nucleotides on "Stimulated" AChE

ATP inhibited the cation "stimulated" AChE activity under conditions optimal for Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity, i.e. [S] optimum, pH optimum and ionic concentrations. Other nucleotides such as GTP and UTP are known to be poor substrates for "Ion-Transport"-ATPase activity (70). Their effects were examined on the microsomal AChE activity in the presence of added ions and the results are shown in Table XVI. GTP and UTP were also effective inhibitors of cation "stimulated" AChE activity.

TABLE XVIII. ATP INHIBITION OF Mg^{2+}

ACTIVATED AChE

мg ^{+ †} (mм)	ATP (mM)	<pre>% Activation with Mg⁺⁺</pre>	<pre>% Activation with Mg⁺⁺⁺ATP</pre>
ы	Ŋ	25.1 ± 0.7	7
10	ഗ	24.8 ± 0.7	Г
20	ы	25.0 ± 0.7	L
10	10	25.6 ± 0.7	Ч

Assays were performed at pH 6.9 in 75 mM tris buffer at 37°C. Control AChE activity was 20.5 (umoles acetyl-thiocholine hydrolyzed/mg protein/h). Standard deviations were derived from 4 different experiments.

7. Effect of Ouabain

The effect of ouabain, an established inhibitor (23,70, 157,159) of Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase, was examined on the microsomal fraction which contained both the enzymes, i.e., AChE and "Ion-Transport"-ATPase. Ouabain at 10^{-5} M inhibited the Na⁺-K⁺ and Mg⁺⁺ activated AChE activity by 60% as shown in Table XIX and Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity by 85-90% (results not shown). The inhibitory effect of ATP and ouabain on AChE was additive. Ouabain also inhibited a "pure" AChE preparation by approximately 50% in the presence of Na⁺, K⁺, and Mg⁺⁺ ions. This "pure" preparation contained no measurable Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity.

8. Effect of Cations and ATP on Lubrol <u>"Solubilized</u>" and a "Pure" AChE Preparation

Effects of cations and ATP on the "microsomal" AChE activity were compared with a "Lubrol" extracted preparation and a "pure" AChE preparation. Na⁺, K⁺, and Mg⁺⁺ activated each of these preparations both at pH 6.9 and 7.5 (Table XX). ATP (5 mM) partially inhibited this ion activation of AChE activity in each preparation with no significant difference. The most "purified" AChE preparation had no measurable Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity. TABLE XIX. OUABAIN INHIBITION OF

ION ACTIVATED AChE

& Inhibition	60	60	100
Concentration M	10 ⁻⁵	5×10^{-3}	10 ⁻⁵ , 5 x 10 ⁻³
Inhibitor Added	Ouabain	ATP	Ouabain + ATP

Experiments were done at room temperature, pH 8.0. Control AChE activity was 25.8 (umoles/mg protein/h). Reaction media contained 110 mM Na⁺, 10 mM K⁺, 5 mM Mg^{2+} and 75 mM tris buffer. Inhibitors were added before the substrate. Percent inhibition represents the mean of 4 individual experiments.

NO
ATP
AND
SNOI
0F
EFFECTS
XX.
TABLE

3 AChE PREPARATIONS

"Pure" Enzyme ized % Change	+21.0	+6.1	+25.0	+12.2
Lubrol "Solubi] Enzyme & Change	+21.0	+14.1	+20.2	+12.0
Microsomal Enzyme & Change	+25.0	+7.8	+21.3	+6.1
Нď	6.9	6.9	7.5	7.5
Additions	Na ⁺ +K ⁺ +Mg ²⁺	Na ⁺ +K ⁺ +Mg ²⁺ +ATP	Na ⁺ +K ⁺ +Mg ²⁺	Na ⁺ +K ⁺ +Mg ²⁺ +ATP

Control AChE activity (umoles/mg/h) at pH 6.9 and 7.5 for the microsomal enzyme was 20.5 and 25.2, the Lubrol enzyme was 35.5 and 42.3 and the "pure" enzyme was 850 and 1000, respectively at 37°C. 110 mM K⁺, 5 mM ATP were added with 75 mM tris buffer. Results given are mean values derived from 3 distinct experiments.

.

IV. DISCUSSION

While the phenomenon of anesthesia has been studied extensively, most propositions regarding the mechanism underlying anesthetic action are based on correlations with the physicochemical properties of anesthetic agents. Such correlations of anesthetic potency with physical or chemical properties of anesthetic agents may be suggestive but fail to prove how or where anesthetics act. In view of the marked chemical heterogenity of agents capable of exerting anesthetic action, any single theory proposed regarding mechanism of anesthesia is unlikely to explain completely the actions of all such compounds. Some proposals of the anesthetic mechanism are merely disciplines of certain effects of these agents which may have little to do with the actual state of anesthesia. However, the goal of the present study was not to deal with the problems of mechanism of anesthesia and no such direct connection is implied. The main objective was to describe actions of inert gas cyclopropane on certain biochemical properties of cerebral membrane components including the enzyme systems - acetylcholinesterase, involved in the termination of neurotransmitter actions, and "ion-transport"-ATPase, important in the restoration and maintainence of ionic gradients. These enzyme systems represent "model systems" and anesthetic actions on them may have nothing to do with the mechanism of anesthesia. However, the study of such actions may have some relevance in increasing our knowledge by which a small molecule like cyclopropane could associate with neural components and exert certain actions leading to physiological effects.

In addition, it was hoped that this study would provide an increased understanding of the "control mechanisms" involved in the regulation of neuronal excitability.

In the present study, interactions of cyclopropane with Α. highly purified forms of brain AChE were investigated. In addition, a membrane-bound synaptosomal preparation was used for comparative purposes. Cyclopropane inhibited all forms of the enzymes studied in a pressure dependent manner (Figure 10). There was no marked difference regarding sensitivity of the three soluble forms or the synaptosomal AChE. The inhibition was observed to occur immediately on exposure of the reaction media to cyclopropane and preincubation with the gas up to 30 minutes did not change the degree of inhibition (Table III). Cyclopropane inhibition occurred at low gas pressures (0.1 ATM) and was completely reversible on degassing, both at high (3 ATM) and low gas pressures in all the AChE preparations (Figure 11). In the past, most of the studies with ethanol (172) and local anesthetics (168) have been done at relatively high concentrations of these agents. In none of these previous investigations has there been any documentation of reversal of inhibitory Under these circumstances, it is difficult to rule effects. out the possibility of denaturation or inhibition of the enzyme system by an irreversible process. Cyclopropane, like other "inerg gases" is very lipid soluble and therefore one might predict, that in the case of membrane-bound AChE, less gas pressure would be required than for the "soluble" purified forms to obtain the same degree of inhibition. However, this did not appear so, as the gas pressure required to obtain

optimal inhibition of both synaptosomal and purified forms was identical (Table II). The mechanism of cyclopropane inhibition is preliminarily at this stage, but kinetic analyses suggest a mixed type of inhibition (competitive and non-competitive) in all the AChE preparations studied (Figure 12). The simplest interpretation of such kinetic studies is that there must be at least two sites on the enzyme molecule with which cyclopropane could interact. It is interesting to note that the level of purity of enzyme did not alter the sensitivity or the type of inhibitory effect of cyclopropane. This is in agreement with the work of other investigators (193) on neuromuscular blocking agents which give similar effects on a membrane-bound and a soluble preparation of AChE. A number of compounds including neuromuscular blocking agents (13,15,34,91), succinylcholine (91,193) and decemethonium (91,142,193) give mixed inhibition of erythrocyte membrane-bound and semipurified eel AChE. The non-competitive component of inhibition is interpreted by these investigators in terms of the existence of a site distinct from the active site on the enzyme where these compounds bind and produce a conformational change. This site is referred to as a "regulatory site" which does not show any catalytic activity and contains at least two negative charges. The competitive component of inhibition may be interpreted as due to allosteric inhibition, which is induced by binding of these compounds at the regulatory site as well as due to a direct competition between the substrate and these agents at the active site.

Cyclopropane, xenon and other inert gases have been shown to interact with a number of proteins of well established structure (53,54,147,148,149). Schoenborn and colleagues (54,147), using x-ray diffraction techniques demonstrated that xenon and cyclopropane molecules bind to myoglobin at a position equidistant from the proximal histidine and heme. They further suggested that the presence of xenon does not alter the shape of the myoglobin molecule. The gas molecules were suggested to fit into a cavity between an area composed of the side chains of "non-polar" amino acids and the partially polar areas of heme and histidine. In more recent studies, involving estimation of binding constants, xenon was also shown to bind to hemoglobin and metmyoglobin at specific sites (159). In addition, the presence of xenon was shown to alter the functioning of myoglobin as evidenced by the shift of carbon-monoxide binding equilibrium (159), in contrast to previous observations (147). In all these cases, the position of xenon molecule was considered to be between a "non-polar" and a partially polar area, suggesting that the binding is due mainly to London interactions (35). If one considers this data interms of cyclopropane interactions with cerebral AChE, one might suggest that there must be some regions on the "active site" of the enzyme that resemble lipid, i.e., "nonpolar" groupings, where cyclopropane could interact. This suggestion originated from the kinetic data which showed a competitive component of the mixed inhibition. By the same token, the non-competitive component of cyclopropane inhibition

of AChE presumably reflects the presence of another region on the enzyme molecule with similar non-polar or hydrophobic characteristics.

The previous discussion concerned interactions of cyclopropane with a cerebral enzyme protein of documented purity (30,31,32). The "model system" examined in the second part of the present study, was the interaction of cyclopropane with cerebral Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase, which represented studies on heterogenous preparations presumed to contain both protein and lipid components. To date, this enzyme has not been completely purified and one is forced to work with partially purified preparations.

B. Cyclopropane inhibited activity of both particulate and partially purified forms of Na^+-K^+ -ATPase, in a pressure dependent manner with little effect on the Mg⁺⁺ ATPase activity at the gas pressures studied (Table V). Preincubation of the enzyme with cyclopropane up to 30 minutes did not change the degree of inhibition (Table VII). Since gas pressures above one atmosphere were required to produce a measurable effect one is forced to question whether cyclopropane effects might be just due to pressure per se. This does not appear to be the case as judged by control experiments with N₂, O₂ and compressed air. All of these caused a slight stimulation (10%) of the enzyme activity, in contrast to the inhibitory effect of cyclopropane (50%) at the same pressure (Figure 14). To examine the effect of pressure alone, hydrostatic pressure was applied at approximately 4 atmospheres and this again

resulted in a small stimulation (10%) of enzyme activity. It is clear that other gases $(N_2, O_2 \text{ and compressed air})$ and pressure per se can have effects on the Na^+-K^+ -ATPase activity. This is in accord with the observed actions of these gases at high pressures on other enzymes (153). However, in the present study one must conclude that the inhibitory effect of cyclopropane on $Na^+-K^+-ATPase$, has some degree of specificity. The action of cyclopropane is more pronounced than that of other gases, is inhibitory rather than stimulatory, and is more selective for the "ion-transport"-ATPase rather than Mg++ ATPase. Several investigators have studied the effects of general anesthetics including ether (75), ethanol (74,75, 116,172,179), halothane (75,101,179), barbiturates (157), chloroform (73,74) on Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase. For the most part, concentrations of these agents used in in vitro studies were higher than those anticipated to occur in the central nervous system in vivo. Each study failed to demonstrate any reversal of drug effects. It is important to rule out any irreversible denaturations of the enzyme system to make any physiologically relevant statement of the observed effects. Cyclopropane inhibition of Na^+-K^+ -ATPase was reversible (95% approx.) as shown in Table VIII. The inhibition of $Na^+-K^+-ATPase$ by cyclopropane was temperature dependent. Greater inhibition was observed at lower temperatures which could be explained by the increasing gas solubility at lower temperatures. The temperature coefficient (Q10) for most enzymes is between 1 and 2 (43), but Lubrol Na^+-K^+ -ATPase had a Q10 of 4, indicating

greater sensitivity of the enzyme system to temperature changes. N₂, O₂ and compressed air stimulated the enzyme activity at optimal (5 mM ATP) substrate concentration, while inhibition was produced at low ATP concentrations (Table X). This is a very unusual effect and may be due to the fact that the enzyme system was impure and heterogenous. On the other hand, it may reflect the possibility of different sites of action of such gases as a function of changes in conformation of the enzyme produced by different substrate concentrations. Nitrogen and other inert gases are known to inhibit certain oxygenases, although at higher pressures, perhaps by competition with molecular oxygen (153).

The kinetics of inhibition of membrane-bound "ion-transport"-ATPase by barbiturates (157), halothane (75,101,179) and diethyl ether (75) has been shown to be of noncompetitive type. Inhibition by cyclopropane, however, is promoted by an increase in substrate concentration (Figure 12). This type of inhibition is referred to as "competitive" by Ebersole et al (45) or "exclusive C type" by Reiner (136). One interpretation of such an effect is that the inhibitor combines with the enzyme-substrate (E-S) complex and not with the free enzyme. Although this type of inhibition is rare, there are certain precedents (36,40,89,98,129,130) for this type of effect. 5-6-dichloro-2-amino benzimidazole (DCB), inhibits phenylethanolamine-N-methyl-transferase (PNMT) in an uncompetitive manner, suggesting that inhibitor and substrate bind independently to the enzyme (129). Fluoride ions

have been shown to inhibit a number of enzymes including cholinesterases (36), urease (40), enolase (130), and 5 adenylic-acid-deaminase (98) in an uncompetitive manner. A similar type of inhibition has also been observed with detergents which inhibit bovine liver glutamate dehydrogenase (89). Cimmasoni et al (36) suggested that the mechanism of this type of inhibition is that the inhibitor binds to the enzyme, only after the protein has undergone a conformational change imposed by the substrate. This E.S. complex with the inhibitor (E-S-I) remains in an undissociated form, which results in inhibition of the reaction.

In attempting to identify the site of cyclopropane action on Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase with more precision, the effect of cyclopropane was studied on individual stages of ATP hydrolysis using an NaI treated Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase. Cyclopropane inhibited the Na⁺-Mg⁺-dependent phosphorylation with little effect on the K⁺-dependent dephosphorylation (Table XI). Although the latter conclusion is based on indirect evidence, it is supported by the following facts. First, increased concentrations of potassium up to 50 mM, did not change the degree of inhibitory effect (Table XII) and second, the degree of inhibition of the Na⁺-Mg⁺⁺-dependent phosphorylation step, correlates well with the data obtained on the overall ATP hydrolysis.

Cardiac glycosides are potent inhibitors of $Na^+-K^+-ATPase$, yet their mode of inhibition is unclear (23,70,157,160). In addition, $Na^+-K^+-ATPase$ inhibition is partially reversed

by increasing concentrations of potassium (160). A competitive antagonism has been observed between ethanol inhibition of Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase and potassium (76), although its precise site of action in the ATP hydrolytic sequence has as yet not been determined. By analogy to these studies, if there is any actions of cyclopropane on the dephosphorylation step, it is probably not competitive with K⁺. Therefore, essentially the effect of cyclopropane appears to be at a step prior to the release of phosphate from the E₂-P complex.

A (^{14}C) ADP-ATP exchange reaction has been observed in a variety of microsomal fractions including crab nerve, brain, kidney, and electric organ as part of the $Na^+-K^+-ATPase$ system (5,137,170,174), constituting further evidence for the participation of the phosphorylated intermediate in the enzyme reaction. N-ethylimide (NEM), BAL-arsenite and oligomycin which all inhibit Na^+-K^+ -ATPase are known to activate the exchange reaction (162,163,171). This ADP-ATP exchange reaction is observed only under specific conditions: a) very low Mg++ concentrations (0-0.15 mM), b) in soluble forms of the enzyme, and c) in the presence of certain agents which inhibit Na⁺⁻ dependent ATP hydrolysis (170). In the present study a particulate enzyme free from any detergent treatments was used in the presence of 5 mM Mg⁺⁺. This concentration is approximately 300 times more than required for the exchange reaction. In addition, no agent was used to inhibit Na⁺dependent ATP hydrolysis. Thus, one concludes that the unusual kinetics of inhibition are not the result of an action on the

back exchange reaction. Phosphorylation of the enzyme is generally assumed to be preceded by an enzyme substrate (E.S.) complex formation (11,125). This formation of E.S. complex is believed to be Mg⁺⁺-dependent by some (125), while others assume it is only Na⁺-dependent (11). On the other hand, it may well be both Na⁺ and Mg⁺⁺ dependent. Whatever cation(s) is involved, these investigators suggest that it is more plausible to assume that it is the initial interaction of enzyme with usbstrate rather than phosphorylation (E P) that creates a confirmational change in the enzyme. The altered enzyme molecule is then more favorable to the K^+ stimulated hydrolysis on the basis of oligomycin studies with $Na^+-K^+-ATPase$ and the absence of formation of E P from nucleotides other than ATP (11).

In considering the mechanism of cyclopropane inhibition of Na^+-K^+ -ATPase, one is forced to infer its nature by exclusion, rather than by a direct approach. As mentioned earlier, cyclopropane appears to inhibit the enzyme reaction at a step prior to dephosphorylation and the remaining scheme is shown below:

Cyclopropane does not affect: a) the exchange reaction for reasons mentioned before and b) the conversion of E_1 P to E_2 -P is an unlikely site because of the unusual kinetics. However, cyclopropane does inhibit Na⁺-Mg⁺⁺-dependent phosphorylation and does so in a substrate promoted manner. One possibility is that cyclopropane interacts with E.S. complex to form an E.S.I. (I being cyclopropane) complex. From kinetic studies, it would appear that cyclopropane binds at a site different from the substrate binding site. This site may be a "regulatory" site or a "modifying site" similar to that postulated before by other investigators. The precise nature of the site where cyclopropane might bind on the $Na^+-K^+-ATPase$, may be interpreted by analogy with cyclopropane interactions with AChE and its binding to other proteins of known structures as discussed previously. That is, that some region or regions of the enzyme molecule must contain hydrophobic regions with which cyclopropane could interact.

Cyclopropane effects are not limited only to membranebound enzymes, but also are known to occur with soluble enzymes (48,118,134). The administration of subanesthetic concentrations of cyclopropane and fluroxene increases adrenal tyrosine hydroxylase activity (118) a rate limiting enzyme involved in the synthesis of catecholamines from tyrosine. It has also been shown to stimulate PNMT activity and such an increase has been correlated with an increase in circulating catecholamines produced by cyclopropane which might be responsible for its cardiovascular effects (48,134). Both cyclopropane and xenon

have actions on flavoproteins. The succinic dehydrogenase activity (SDH) of mitochondrial fractions of rat liver and brain (180) and also of mutant-strains of E. coli (64) was stimulated by low pressures of cyclopropane.

C. Acetylcholinesterase from various sources has been reported to be activated by cations such as Na⁺, Mg⁺⁺, Ca⁺⁺, K⁺ (9,34,105,190) while fluoride (36) and lithium chloride (26) inhibit the enzyme activity. Ca⁺⁺ does not compete with ACh for the catalytic anionic site and presumably binds to an allosteric site (beta-anionic site) according to Roufgalis et al (142). Mg⁺ and Na⁺ inhibit substrate hydrolysis at low substrate concentrations and activate ACh hydrolysis at high substrate concentrations (143,144) and appear to bind to the catalytic anionic site (alpha) as well as at the beta-anionic site. The present investigation of microsomal AChE from beef caudate tissue also demonstrated stimulation of enzyme activity by cations such as Na^+ , K^+ and Mg^{++} (Table XV). Activation of the enzyme by cations was not influenced by the level of purity of the enzyme. Cation activation of AChE, seems to be a complex phenomenon depending on ionic species, concentrations of ions and pH of incubation media. An association of "ion-transport"-ATPase with AChE of the electrophorus electric organ has been suggested by Fahn (52) on the basis that there is a gradient of both enzyme activities along the length of the electric organ, being highest rostrally and lowest caudally. In addition,
calculations of enzyme activities in terms of protein concentration also yeilded similar qualitative results. Shirachi et al (20) also suggested the possibility of a physical association between the two enzyme systems based on examination of the sedimentation properties of the two "solubilized" enzymes using zonal ultra centrifugation techniques. In addition, to a morphological relationship, a functional relationship between the two enzyme systems has been proposed by Kometiani et al (93). The present investigation provided a certain amount of support for this suggestion in that "ion stimulated" AChE activity could be inhibited by ATP. This antagonism of ion activation of AChE occurred at the substrate (ATP) optimum (Figure 18), pH optimum and ion concentrations required for optimal "ion-transport"-ATPase activity. This would suggest the possibility of some form of control of AChE activity, at least that due to ion activation, by changes in the rate of reaction of Na^+-K^+ -ATPase. However, such a proposal is not supported by other findings. For example, ATP in the presence of Na^+ and/or K^+ ions (no Mg^{++}) reversed ion activated AChE activity (Table XVII). Under these conditions since the enzyme has a mandatory requirement for Mg⁺⁺ Na⁺-K⁺-activated ATPase is non-functional. Similarly ATP (5 mM) completely blocked Mg^{++} (5 mM) activation of AChE in the absence of Na^+-K^+ ions. Without Na^+ and K^+ ions, there is little ATPase activity. Increased concentrations of Mg⁺⁺, up to 20 mM did not reverse the ATP inhibitions of Mg++ stimulated AChE (Table XVIII), thus the possibility of a

complex formation between the Mg⁺⁺ ion and the nucleotide ATP is unlikely. Other nucleotides such as GTP and UTP, although poor substrates for "ion-transport"-ATPase, were effective inhibitors of cation activated AChE (Table XVI).

Another test of the proposal of a functional relationship was to examine the influence of ouabain. The cardiac glycoside at concentrations which inhibited Na^+-K^+-ATP ase activity by 85-90% also inhibited the ion stimulated AChE activity by 60% (Table XIX). However, any interpretation of this inhibitory effect in terms of a functional relationship between the two enzyme systems is limited by the observation that ouabain also inhibited a relatively pure preparation of AChE, containing no measurable Na^+-K^+ -ATPase activity.

Perhaps the most convincing argument against a functional relationship comes from the studies on a highly purified form of AChE, which was also stimulated by Na⁺, K⁺ and Mg⁺⁺ ions. This activation was partially reversed by ATP, although the preparation contained no Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity (Table XX). Abdel Latif et al (1) have also examined AChE and Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activities in the synaptosomal and microsomal fractions of developing rat brains. The effect of various inhibitors and activators on both enzymes showed no relationship. Similarly the pattern of development was different in both subcellular fractions. All these observations are more supportive of a functional independence of "ion-transport"-ATPase and AChE. However, one might conclude that ion activation and nucleotide inhibition of AChE may well represent characteristic properties of this enzyme which could be of

importance in the regulation of enzyme activity and hence, transmitter action during the excitatory process.

SUMMARY

Most of the work in the past on inert gases had been on the plasma proteins and not much on neural tissues. Interactions of cyclopropane with both membrane-bound and purified forms of brain AChE was of interest regarding the low concentrations of the gas required to observe the inhibitory effects. The gas pressure required was identical in all the preparations of AChE to obtain the same degree of inhibition. Cyclopropane inhibition of all AChE forms was reversible both at high (3.0 atm) and low (0.1 atm) gas pressures. Kinetic analysis showed mixed inhibition in both membrane-bound and pure forms of AChE. Since AChE from the mammalian brain source was available, it provided an excellent model analogous to xenon/myoglobin to investigate where and how cyclopropane interacted with the protein.

Cyclopropane also inhibited semi-purified forms of "iontransport" ATPase, reversibly and in both pressure and temperature dependent manner. Cyclopropane inhibition of lubrol Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase was substrate promoted and from kinetic studies it appeared to interact at a site other than the active site on the enzyme molecule, perhaps a "regulatory site." Cyclopropane inhibited the enzyme reaction at or before the phosphorylation step, perhaps by altering the binding of substrate to the enzyme. Cyclopropane interactions with these enzyme systems does not explain the "<u>in vivo</u>" effects produced by this gas, but could provide an important tool to increase our understanding of the control mechanisms involved in cerebral excitability.

In the final section of the thesis, AChE of a membrane source and a relatively pure preparation was shown to be activated by cations including Na⁺, K^+ and Mg⁺⁺ either alone or in combinations. ATP antagonism of the "ion activated" AChE occurred at conditions known to be optimal for Na^+-k^+ -ATPase activity and thus favoured the proposed relationship. However, other nucleotides (GTP, UTP) and ouabain also inhibited the ion activated AChE activity. ATP also partially blocked activation of AChE by single cation. A pure preparation of AChE with no measurable Na^+-K^+ -ATPase activity was also activated by cations and this cation activation was inhibited by ATP. These later findings did not support the suggested relationship between AChE and Na^+-K^+ -ATPase. However, ion activation and nucleotide inhibition of AChE represent individual properties of the enzyme which may be of importance in the regulation of enzyme activity and, hence, transmitter action during the excitatory process.

REFERENCES

- Abdel-Latif AA, Smith JP, Ellington EP: Subcellular distribution of sodium-potassium adenosine triphosphate, acetylcholine and acetylcholinesterase in developing rat brain. Brain Research 18:441-450, 1970
- 2. Akera T, Brady TM: Inhibition of brain sodium and potassium stimulated adenosine triphosphate activity by chlorpromazine free radical. Mol Pharmacol 4:600-612, 1968
- 3. Albers RW: Biochemical aspects of active transport. Ann Rev Biochem 36:727-756, 1967
- 4. Albers RW, deLores Arnaiz GR, deRobertis E: Sodiumpotassium-activated ATPase and potassium-activated pnitrophenylphosphatase: a comparison of their subcellular localizations in rat brain. Proc Nat Acad Sci, USA 53:557-564, 1965
- 5. Albers RW, Fahn S, Koval GJ: The role of sodium ions in the activation of electrophorus electric organ ATPase. Proc Nat Acad Sci, USA 50:474-481, 1963
- 6. Albers RW, Koval GJ, Siegel GJ: Studies of the interaction of ouabain and other cardioactive steroids with sodium-potassium activated adenosinetriphosphatase. Mol Pharmacol 4:324-336, 1968
- 7. Aldridge WN, Reiner E: Acetylcholinesterase. Two types of inhibition by an organophosphorus compound; one the formation of phosphorylated enzyme and the other analogus to inhibition by substrate. Biochem J 115:147-162, 1969

- Alexander , Corigherd S, Colton ET, Smith AL: Effects of cyclopropane on cerebral and systemic carbohydrate metabolism. Anesthesiology 32:236-245, 1970
- 9. Alles GA, Hawes RC: Cholinesterases in the blood of man. J Biol Chem 133:375-390, 1940
- 10. Armstrong CM, Birnstock LJ: The effects of several alcohols on properties of squid giant axon. Gen Physiol 48:265, 1964
- 11. Askari A, Koval D: Different sensitivities of the Na-Kactivated ATPase and its partial reactions. Biochem and Biophys Res commun 32:227-232, 1968
- 12. Banay-Schwartz M, Piro L, Lajtha A: Relationship of ATP levels to amino acid transport in slices of mouse brain. Arch Biochem Biophys 145:194, 1971
- 13. Belleau B, DiTullio V: Effects of drugs on cholinergic mechanisms in the CNS. International Symposium, Skoklester, Sweden, 1970
- Belleau B, DiTullio V, Tsai Y: Kinetic effects of leptocurares and pachycurares on the methanesulfonylation of AChE. A correlation with pharmacodynamic properties. Mol Pharmacol 6:41-45, 1970
- 15. Belleau B, DiTullio V: Specific labelling of the curare binding sites of acetylcholinesterase and some properties of the modified enzyme. Canad J Biochem 49:1131, 1971
- 16. Bennett PB, Harward AJ: Electrolyte imbalance as the mechanism for inert gas narcosis and anesthesia. Nature 213:938-939, 1967

- 17. Bergmann F, Wilson IB, Nachmansohn D: AChE: lx structural features determining the inhibition by amino acids and related compounds. J Biol Chem 186:693-703, 1950
- 18. Berman JB, Young M: Rapid and complete purification of acetylcholinesterases of electric eel and erythrocyte by affinity chromatography. Proc Nat Acad Sci, USA 68:395, 1971
- 19. Besch HR, Allen JC, Glick G, Schwartz A: Correlation between the inotropic action of ouabain and its effects on subcellular enzyme systems from canine myocardium. J Pharmacol Exp Therap 171:1-12, 1970
- 20. Bonting SL, Canady MR: Na^+-K^+ -activated adenosine triphosphatase and Na^+ -transport in toad bladder. Am J Physiol 207:1005-1009, 1969
- 21. Bonting SL, Caravaggio LL: Sodium potassium activated adenosine triphosphatase in squid giant-axon. Nature (London) 194:1180, 1962
- 22. Bonting SL, Caravaggio LL, Hawkins NM: Studies of Na⁺-K⁺activated adenosine triphosphatase. Correlation with cation transport sensitive to c-glycosides. Arch Biochem 98:413-419, 1962
- 23. Bonting SL, Caravaggio LL, Hawkins NM: Studies on Na-Kactivated ATPase IV. Correlation with cation transport sensitive to cardiac glycosides. Arch Biochem 98:413-419, 1962

- 24. Bonting SL, Simon KA, Hawkins NM: Studies on Na-Kactivated ATPase 1 quantitative distribution in several tissues of cat. Arch Biochem 95:416-423, 1961
- 25. Bradford HF, Brownlow EK, Gammack DB: The distribution of dation-stimulated adenosine triphosphatase in subcellular fractions from bovine cerebral cortex. J Neurochem 13:1283-1297, 1966
- 26. Brestkin AP, Ivanova LA: The effect of lithium and Ca⁺⁺ ions on the activity of erythrocyte-derived acetylcholinesterase. UDC 35:577-578, 1970
- 27. Carpenter FG: Kinetics of Blockade in peripheral nerve fibers produced by anesthetic gases. Federation Proceedings 18:23, 1959
- 28. Catchpool JF: Hydrate microcrystal theory of anesthesia. Am N Y Acad Sci 125:595, 1965
- 29. Chan SL, Shirachi DY, Trevor AJ: Purification of beef brain acetylcholinesterase. Proc West Pharmac Soc 13:43-47, 1970
- 30. Chan SL, Shirachi DY, Trevor AJ; Purification and properties of brain acetylcholinesterase. J Neurochem 19:437, 1972
- 31. Chan SL, Shirachi DY, Bhargava HN, Gardner E, Trevor AJ: Purification of beef brain and eel electric organ acetylcholinesterase by affinity chromatography. Proc West Pharmac Soc 15:132, 1972
- 32. Chan SL, Shirachi DY, Bhargava HN, Gardner E, Trevor AJ: Multiple forms of brain acetylcholinesterase: affinity chromatography and characterization. J Neurochem 19:2747-2748, 1972

- 33. Chance B, Hollunger G: Inhibition of electron and energy transfer in mitochondria I: effects of amytal, thiopental, ratenone, progesterone, and methylene glycol. J Biol Chem 238:418, 1963
- 34. Changeux J-P: Responses of AChE from Tropedo marmarata to salts and curarizing drugs. Mol Pharmacol 2:369-392, 1966
- 35. Changeux J-P, Podleski T, Wofsy L: Affinity labelling of the acetylcholine receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S. 58:2063, 1967
- 36. Cimasoni G: Inhibition of cholinesterases by fluoride in vitro. Biochem J 99:133, 1966
- 37. Crone HD: The influence of ionic strength on the interaction of quaternary drugs with mammalian AChE in relaion to possible regulatory effects. J Neurochem 20:225-236, 1973
- 38. Cuatrecasas P, Wilchek M, Anfinsen CB: Selective enzyme purification by affinity chromatography. Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S. 61:636, 1968
- 39. Cullens S, Gross E: The anesthetic properties of xenon in animals and human beings, with additional observations on krypton. Science 113:580-582, 1951
- 40. Descoeudres A, Cimasoni G: The inhibition of urease by fluoride in vitro. I.A.D.R. Continental European Division.
 Fifth annual meeting, Rome, October 5,6, 1968.
- 41. DeRobertis E, Alberici M, Rodriguez G, Azcurra JM: Isolation of different types of synaptic membranes form the brain cortex. Life Sci 5:577, 1966

- 42. DeRobertis E, Fiszer S, Soto EF: Cholinergic binding capacity of proteolipids from isolated nerve-ending membranes. Science 158:928, 1967
- 43. Dixon M, Webb E: Enzymes. New York, Academic Press, Inc., 1964, p 158
- 44. Dunham ET, Glynn IM: Adenosinetriphosphatase activity and the active movement of alkali metal ions. J Physiol 156:274-280, 1961
- 45. Ebersole ER, Guttentag C, Wilson PW: Nature of carbon monoxide inhibition of biological nitrogen fixation.
 Arch Biochem Biophys 3:399-418, 1944
- 46. Eger EI, Brandstater B, Sordman LJ, Regan MJ, Severinghaus JW, Munson ES: Equipotent alveolar concentrations of methoxyflurane, halothane, diethyl ether, fluroxene, cyclopropane, xenon and N₂O in the dog. Anesthesiol 26:771-777, 1965
- 47. Ellman GL, Courtney KD, Andres V, Feathersteon RM: A new and rapid colorimetric determination of acetylcholinesterase activity. Biochem Pharmacol 7:88, 1961
- 48. Elmer PC, Jefferson AA: Effects of cyclopropane on the adrenal content of the superior glands. J Physiol 101:355-361, 1942
- 49. Emmelot P, Bos CJ: Studies on plasma membranes. III Mg²⁺-ATPase (Na⁺-K⁺-Mg²⁺)-ATPase and 5¹-nucleotidase activity of plasma membranes isolated from rat liver. Biochem Biophys Acta 120:369-382, 1966

- 50. Fahn S: Correlation of Na-K activated ATPase with AChE of the electrophorus electric organ. Experientia (Basel) 24:544-545, 1968
- 51. Fahn S, Hurley MR, Koval GJ, Albers RW: Sodium-potassium activated ATPase of electrophorus electric organ. II. Effects of N-ethylmaleimide and other sulfhydral reagents. J Biol Chem 241:1890-1895, 1966
- 52. Fahn S, Koval GJ, Albers RW: Sodium-potassium-activated adenosine triphosphatase of electrophorus electric organ.
 I. An associated sodium-activated transphosphorylation.
 J Biol Chem 241:1882-1889, 1966
- 53. Featherstone RM, Muehlbacher CA, DeBon FL, Forsaith JA: Interactions of inert anesthetic gases with proteins. Anesthesiology 22:977, 1961
- 54. Featherstone RM, Muelbacher CA: The current rule of inert gases in the search for anesthesia mechanisms. Pharmacol Reviews 15:98-114, 1963
- 55. Ferguson J: The use of chemical potentials as indices of toxicity. Proc Roy Soc SB 127:387, 1939
- 56. Garfield JM, Alper MH, Gillis RA, Flache W: A pharmacological analysis of ganglionic action of some general anesthetics. Anesthesiology 29:79-92, 1968
- 57. Germain M, Proulx P: Adenosine triphosphatase activity in synaptic vesicles of rat brain. Biochem Pharm 14:1815-1819, 1965
- 58. Goodman L, Gillman A: The Pharmacologic Basis of Therapeutics. New York, The MacMillan Company, 1966, p 46

- 59. Glynn IM: The action of cardiac glycosides on ion movement. Pharmacol Rev 16:381-407, 1964
- 60. Glynn IM: Transport adenosine triphosphatase in electric organ. The relation between the ion transport and oxidative phosphorylation. J Physiol (London) 169:452-465, 1963
- 61. Gottlieb SF, Cymermon A, Metz AV: A physiological effect of xenon, krypton, and argon: Inhibition of sodium active transport. Fed Proc 27:768, 1967
- 62. Gruener N, Avi-Dor Y: Temperature-dependence of activation and inhibition of rat-brain adenosine triphosphatase activated by sodium and potassium ions. Biochem J 100:762-767, 1966
- 63. Hafkenscheid JCM, Bonting SL: Studies on Na⁺+K⁺-ATPase.
 XIX. Occurrence and properties of a Na⁺+K⁺-activated
 ATPase in Escherichia coli. Biochem Biophys Acta 151:204-211, 1968
- 64. Hegeman SL: Sites of action of the inert anesthetic
 gases: Effect of xenon and cyclopropane on the physiology
 and biochemistry of Escherichia coli. Ph.D. Thesis,
 UCSF, 1969, pp 49-51
- 65. Heinz E: Transport through biological membranes. Ann Rev Physiol 29:21-58, 1967
- 66. Henderson VE: The present status of theories of narcosis. Physiol Rev 10:171, 1930
- 67. Ho IK, Ellman GL: Triton solubilized acetylcholinesterase of brain. J Neurochem 16:1505, 1969

- 68. Hoffman JF: Cation transport and structure of the red cell plasma membrane. Circulation 26:1201-1213, 1962
- 69. Hoffman JF: Physiological characteristics of human red blood cell ghosts. J Gen Physiol 49:9-28, 1958
- 70. Hokin LE: On the molecular characterization of the sodiumpotassium transport adenosinetriphosphatase and its cardiotonic steroid site, Fundamental Concepts in Drug Receptor Interactions. Edited by JF Danielle, JF Moran, DJ Triggle. New York, Academic Press, 1970, p 205
- 71. Hokin EL, Sastry PS, Galsworthy PR, Yoda A: Evidence that a phosphorylated intermediate in a brain transport adenosine triphosphatase is an acyl phosphate. Proc Nat Acad Sci U.S.A. 54:177-184, 1965
- 72. Hosie RJA: The localization of adenosine triphosphatases in morphologically characterized subcellular fractions of guinea pig brain. Biochem J 96:404-412, 1965
- 73. Israel MA, Kuriyama K: Effects of in vivo ethanol administration on adenosine triphosphatase activity of subcellular fractions of mouse brain and liver. Life Sci 10:591-599, 1971
 - 74. Israel Y, Kalant H, Laufer I: Effects of ethanol on Na, K, Mg-stimulated microsomal ATPase activity. Biochem Pharmacol 14:1803-1814, 1965
 - 75. Israel Y, Kalant H, Leblanc AE, Bernstein JC, Solazar I: Changes in cation transport and adenosine triphosphatase produced by chronic administration of ethanol. J Pharmac Exp Therap 174:330-336, 1970

- 76. Israel Y, Salazar I: Inhibition of brain microsomal adenosine triphosphate by general depressants. Arch Biochem Biophys 122:315, 1967
- 77. Iverson F: The influence of tetraethylammonium ion on the reaction between AChE and selected inhibitors.
 Mol Pharmacol 7:129-135, 1971
- 78. Jackson RL, Aprison MH: Mammalian brain acetylcholinesterase purification and properties. J Neurochem 13:1351, 1966
- 79. Jobbis FF, Verman JC: Inhibition of Na-K-stimulated ATPase by oligomycin. Biochem Biophys Acta 73:346-348, 1963
- 80. Jorgensen PL, Skou JC: Preparation of highly active
 Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase from the outer medulla of rabbit kidney.
 Biochem Biophys Res Commun 37:39, 1969
- 81. Kalandarishvili AA: Changes in acetylcholinesterase and sodium potassium ion adenosine-triphosphatase activities during incubation of a microsomal fraction of rat brain. Soobsh Akad Nauk Gruz SSR 52:787-792, 1968
- 82. Kalderon N, Silman I, Blumberg S, Dudai Y: A method for the purification of acetylcholinesterase by affinity chromatography. Biochim Biophys Acta 207:560, 1970
- 83. Kaplay SS, Jagannathan V: Purification and properties of ox brain acetylcholinesterase. Arch Biochem Biophys 138:48, 1970

- 84. Kahlenberg A, Dulak NC, Dixon JF, Galsworthy PR, Hokin LE: Studies on the characterization of the sodiumpotassium transport adenosine-triphosphatase. V. Partial purification of the lubrol-solubilized beef brain enzyme. Arch Biochem Biophys 131:253, 1969
- 85. Kato G: Nuclear magnetic resonance study of the interaction between acetylcholine and horse serum cholinesterase. Mol Pharmacol 5:148, 1969
- 86. Kato G, Young J, Ihnat M: Nuclear magnetic resonance studies on AChE: The use of atropine and eserine to probe binding sites. Mol Pharmacol 6:588-596, 1971
- 87. Kato G, Tan E, Yung J: Allosteric properties of acetylcholinesterase. Nature New Biology 236:185, 1972
- 88. Kato G, Yung J, Ihnat M: NMR studies of the interaction of eserine and atropine with acetylcholinesterase. Biochem Biophys Res Comm 40:15, 1970
- 89. Kenneth SR, Stanley CY: Molecular interactions of uncompetitive inhibitors with bovine liver glutamate dehydrogenase. J Biol Chem 247:3671-3676, 1972
- 90. Kepner GR, Macey RI: Comments on recent efforts to estimate the molecular weight of the Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase. Biochim Biophys Acta 183:241, 1969
- 91. Kitz RJ, Braswell LM, Ginsburg S: On the question: Is AChE an allosteric protein? Mol Pharmacol 6:108-121, 1970
- 92. Knox WH, Perrin RG, Sen AK: Effects of chronic administration of ethanol on Na-K-activated ATPase activity in cat brain. J Neurochem 19:2881-2884, 1972

- 93. Kometiani ZP, Kalandarishvili AA: Interrelationships of acetylcholinesterase and transport ATPase in the microsomes of the rat brain. Biofizika 14:213-218, 1969
- 94. Kremzner LT, Wilson IB: A chromatographic procedure for the purification of acetylcholinesterase. J Biol Chem 238:1714, 1963
- 95. Laidler KJ: The chemical kinetics of enzyme action. Oxford. Claredon, 1958
- 96. Landon EJ, Norris JL: Na⁺ and K⁺ dependent ATPase activity in rat kidney endoplasmic reticulum fraction. Biochem et Biophys Acta 71:266-276, 1963
- 97. Lawler HC: The preparation of a soluble acetylcholinesterase from brain. Biochim Biophys Acta 81:280, 1964
- 98. Lee YP, Wang MH: Studies on the nature of the inhibitory action of inorganic phosphate, fluoride and detergents on 5-adenylic acid deaminase activity and on the activation of adenosine triphosphate. J Biol Chem 243:2260, 1968
- 99. Leuzinger W, Baker AL: Acetylcholinesterase. I. Largescale purification, homogeneity and amino acid analysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci 57:446, 1967
- 100. Leuzinger W: The number of catalytic sites in acetylcholinesterase. Biochem J 23:139-141, 1971
- 101. Levitt JD: The effects of halothane on synaptosomal adenosine-triphosphatase. Sci Abs Anaesth 131-132, 1972
- 102. Lowry OH, Rosenbrough NJ, Farr AL, Randall RJ: Protein measurement with the folin phenol reagent. J Biol Chem 193 265-275, 1951

- 103. Luckhardt AB, Lewis D: Clinical experiences with ethyleneoxygen anesthesia. J Am Med Ass 81:1851-1857, 1923
- 104. Magnusson H: An X-ray crystallographic study of various anesthetic gases binding to myoglobin. Thesis - M.S. University of California, 1968
- 105. Mandell B, Rudney H: Some effects of salts on true cholinesterases. Science 102:616-617, 1945.
- 106. Martin JH, Doty DM: Determination of inorganic phosphate.
 Anal Chem 21:965-967, 1949
- 107. Matsui H, Schwartz A: Mechanism of cardiac glycoside inhibition of Na⁺-K⁺-dependent ATPase for cardiac tissue. Biochim Biophys Acta (Amst.) 151:655-663, 1968
- 108. Matsui H, Schwartz A: Purification and properties of a highly active ouabain sensitive Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase from cardiac tissue. Biochim Biophys Acta 128:380-390, 1966
- 109. McIlwain H: Chemical Exploration of Brain. Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1963, pp 99-104
- 110. McIlwain H: Appraising enzyme actions of central depressants by examining cerebral tissues, Enzyme and Drug Action. Edited by JL Morgan, AVS deRouch. Little, Brown and Co, Boston, 1962, pp 170-198, 199-205.
- 111. Medzihradsky F, Kline MH, Hokin LE: Studies on the characterization of the sodium-potassium transport adenosine triphosphatase. I. Solubilization, stabilization and estimation of apparent molecular weight. Arch Biochem Biophys 121:311, 1967

- 112. Meyers HH: Contribution to theory of narcosis. Trans Faraday Soc 33:1062, 1937
- 113. Miller SL: A theory of gaseous anesthetics. Proc Nat Acad Sci 47:1515, 1961
- 114. Miller KW, Paton WDM, Smith EB: Site of action of general anesthetia. Nature 206:574-577, 1965
- 115. Mizuno N, Nagano K, Nakao T, Tashima Y, Fujita M, Nakao M: Approximation of molecular weight of (Na⁺-K⁺)-ATPase. Biochim Biophys Acta 168:311, 1968
- 116. Moore JW, Wright W, Takato M: Effect of ethanol on the sodium-potassium conductance of squid axon membranes. J Gen Physiol 48:279, 1964
- 117. Morris LE, Knott JR: Electroencephalographic and blood gas observations in human surgical patients during xenon anesthesia. Anesthesiology 16:312-319, 1955
- 118. Muller RA: Increases in tyrosine hydroxylase activity after exposure to cyclopropane and fluroxene. Anesthesiology 35:612-620, 1971
- 119. Mullins LJ: Handbook of Neurochemistry. Edited by A Lajtha, Vol VI, New York, Plenum Press, 1971, pp 395-421
- 120. Mullins LJ: From molecules to membranes. Fed Proceed 27:898-901, 1968
- 121. Nachmansohn D, Lederer E: Sur la biochimie de la cholinesterase. I. Preparation del'enzyme. Role des Groupements. Sh Bull Soc Chim Biol 21:797 (Paris), 1939
- 122. Nachmansohn D: Chemical and Molecular Basis of Nerve Activity. New York, Academic Press, 1959

- 123. Nagano K, Kanazawa T, Mizuno N, Tashima Y, Nakao T, Nakao M: Some acyl phosphate-like properties of P³²labelled Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 19:759-764, 1965
- 124. Neglun M: Methods in Enzymology I. 1955
- 125. Norby JG, Jensen J: Binding of ATP to brain microsomal ATPase. Biochim Biophys Acta 233:104-116, 1971
- 126. Ord MG, Thompson RHS: The preparation of soluble cholinesterases from mammalian heart and brain. Biochem J 49:191, 1951
- 127. Pauling L: A molecular theory of anesthesia. Science 134:15, 1961
- 128. Pauling L: Anesthesia analgesia. Current Res 43:1-10, 1964
- 129. Pendleton RG, Snow IB, Kaiser C, Wang J, Green H: Studies on the mechanism of phenylethanolamine-N-methyl-transferase inhibition by a dichloro-substituted-benzimidazole. Biochem Pharma 21:2967-2975, 1971
- 130. Peters RA, Shorthouse M, Murray LR: Enclase and fluorophosphate. Nature 202:1331, 1964
- 131. Pittinger CB, Faulconer A, Knott JR, Pender JW, Morris LE, Bickford RG: Electro-encephalographic and other observations in monkeys during xenon anesthesia at elevated pressures. Anesthesiology 16:551-563, 1955
- 132. Post RL, Merritt CR, Kinsolving CR, Albright CD: Membrane ATPase as participant in active transport of sodium and potassium in human erythrocytes. J Biol Chem 235:1796-1802, 1960

- 133. Post RL, Sen AK, Rosenthal AS: A phosphorylated intermediate in adenosine triphosphate-dependent sodium and potassium transport across kidney membranes. J Biol Chem 240:1437-1445, 1965
- 134. Price HL, Linda HW et al: Sympathoadrenal responses to general anaesthesia in man and their relationship to hemodynamics. Anesthesiology 20:563-575, 1959
- 135. Quastel JH: Effects of drugs on metabolism of the brain <u>in vitro</u>. Brit Med Bull 21:49, 1965
- 136. Reiner GM: Behaviour of Enzyme Systems. Minneapolis, Minnesota, Burgess, 1959
- 137. Rendi R: Sodium, potassium requiring adenosinetriphosphatase activity. Mechanism of inhibition by sulphydryl reagents. BBA 99:564-566, 1965
- 138. Roberts JT, Braswell BS, Kitz RJ: Reversible inhibition of acetylcholinesterase by diethyl ether. ASA Meeting, 1972
- 139. Robinson JD: Kinetics studies on a brain microsomal adenosine triphosphatase. Evidence suggesting conformational changes. Biochemistry 6:3250-3258, 1967
- 140. Rosenberry TL, Chang HE, Chen YT: Purification of acetylcholinesterase by affinity chromatography and determination of active site stoichiometry. J Biol Chem 247:1555, 1972
- 141. Rothenberg MA, Nachmansohn D: Studies on cholinesterase. III. Purification of the enzyme from electric tissue by fractional ammonium sulfate precipitation. J Biol Chem 168:223, 1947

- 142. Roufogalis BD, Quist EE: Relative binding sites of pharmacologically active ligands on bovine erythrocyte AChE. Mol Pharmacol 8:41-49, 1972
- 143. Roufogalis BD, Thomas J: The acceleration of AChE activity at low ionic strength by organic and inorganic cations. Mol Pharmacol 4:181-186, 1968
- 144. Roufogalis BD, Thomas J: The dependence of the acceleration of AChE activity by inorganic ions on the structure of substrate used. Life Sci 7:985-992, 1968
- 145. Ryan JF, Ginsburg S, Kitz FJ: The reaction of AChE with methanesulfonyl esters of quaternary quinolinium compounds. Biochem Pharmacol 18:269-278, 1969
- 146. Samaha FJ: Studies on Na⁺-K⁺-stimulated ATPase of human brain. J Neurochem 14:333-341, 1967
- 147. Schoenborn BP: Binding of anesthetics to proteins: An x-ray crystallographic investigation. Fed Proceed 27:888-894, 1968
- 148. Schoenborn BP: Binding of cyclopropane to sperm whale myoglobin. Nature 214:1120, 1967
- 149. Schoenborn BP: Binding of xenon to horse haemoglobin. Nature 208:760-762, 1965
- 150. Schoenborn BP: Structure of alkaline metmyoglobin xenon complex. J Mol Biol 45:279-303, 1969
- 151. Schoenborn BP, Featherstone RM: Molecular forces in anesthesia. Advanc Pharmacol 5:1-17, 1966
- 152. Schoner W, Bensch R, Kramer R: On the mechanism of Na⁺ and K⁺ stimulated hydrolysis of adenosine triphosphate. Europ J Biochem 7:102-110, 1968

- 153. Schreiner HR: General biological effects of helium-xenon series of elements. Fed Proc 27:872, 1968
- 154. Schwartz A: A sodium and potassium-stimulated adenosine triphosphatase from cardiac tissues. I. Preparation and properties. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 9:301-306, 1962
- 155. Schwartz A: Na⁺-K⁺-stimulated ATPase in "microsomal" fractions from rat liver. Biochem Biophys Acta 67:329-331, 1963
- 156. Schwartz A, Allen JC, Harigaya S: Possible involvement of cardiac Na-K-ATPase in the mechanism of action eardiac glycosides. J Pharmacol Exp Therap 168:31-41, 1969
- 157. Schwartz A, Laseter H: Sodium and potassium-stimulated adenosinetriphosphatase from cardiac tissue. I. The effects of ouabain and other agents. Biochem Pharma 13:337-349, 1964
- 158. Schwartz A, Laseter AH, Kraintz LJ: Enzymatic basis for active cation transport in parotid gland. J Cell and Cellular Comp Physiol 62:193-205, 1963
- 159. Settle W, Featherstone RM: A consideration of functional changes in myoglobin produced by xenon. Submitted at Western Pharmacology Society Meeting, 1970
- 160. Shirachi DY, Allard AA, Trevor AJ: Partial purification and ouabain sensitivity of Lubrol extracted sodiumpotassium transport ATPase from brain and cardiac tissue. Biochem Pharmacol 19:2893-2906, 1970

- 161. Shirachi DY, Chan SL, Trevor AJ: Zonal ultracentrifugation of Lubrol extracted Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase and AChEsterases from bovine brain. Pharmacologist 12:295, 1970
- 162. Siegel GJ, Albers RW: Sodium-potassium-activated adenosine triphosphatase of electrophorus electric organ. IV. Modification of responses to sodium and potassium by arsenite plus 2,3-dimercaptopropanol. J Biol Chem 242:4972-4979, 1967
- 163. Siegel GJ, Goodwin B: Na-K⁺-activated ATPase: K⁺ regulation of enzyme phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 247:3630-3637, 1972
- 164. Skou JC: The influences of some cations on an adenosinetriphosphatase from peripheral nerves. Biochem Biophys Acta 23:394-401, 1957
- 165. Skou JC: Preparation from mammalian brain and kidney of enzyme system involved in active transport of Na⁺ and K⁺. Biochem et Biophys Acta 58:314-325, 1962
- 166. Skou JC: Further investigations on Mg⁺⁺ and Na⁺ activated ATPase, possibly related to active, linked transport of Na⁺ and K⁺ across cell membrane. Biochem Biophys Acta 42:6-23, 1960
- 167. Skou JC: Enzymatic basis for active transport of Na⁺ and K⁺ across cell membrane. Physiol Rev 45:596-614, 1965
- 168. Skou JC: Local anaesthetics potency and inhibition of AChE. Acta Pharmacol et Toxicol 12:109-114, 1965

- 169. South FE, Cook SF: Argon, xenon, hydrogen and oxgen consumption and glycolysis of mouse tissue slices. J Gen Physiol 37:335, 1954
- 170. Stahl WL, Sattin A, McIlwain H: Separation of ADP-ATPexchange activity from the cerebral microsomal Na-Kstimulated ATPase. Biochem J 99:404-412, 1966
- 171. Stahl WL: Sodium-stimulated [¹⁴C] adenosine diphosphateadenosine triphosphate exchange activity in brain microsomes. J Neurochem 15:511-518, 1968
- 172. Sun AY, Samorajski T: Effects of ethanol on the activity of ATPase AChE in the synaptosomes isolated from guinea pig brain. J Neurochem 17:1365-1372, 1970
- 173. Swanson PD, Bradford HF, McIlwain H: Stimulation and solubilization of the sodium ion-activated adenosine triphosphatase of cerebral microsomes by surface-activ e agents especially polyoxyethylene ethers: actions of phospholipases and a neuroaminidase. Biochem J 92:235, 1964
- 174. Swanson P, Stahl WL: The adenosine diphosphate adenosine triphosphate - exchange reaction of cerebral microsomes and its relation to the sodium ion-stimulated adenosinetriphosphatase reaction. Biochem J 99:396, 1966
- 175. Tobin T, Baskin SI, Akera T, Brody TM: Nucleotide specificity of the Na-stimulated phosphorylation and [³H] ouabain-binding reaction of Na-K-ATPase. Mol Pharm 8:256-263, 1971

- 176. Trevor AJ, Cummins JT: Properties of sodium and potassiumactivated adenosine triphosphate of rat brain; effect of cyclopropane and other agents modifying enzyme activity. Biochem Pharmacology 18:1157-1167, 1969
- 177. Uesugi S, Dulak NC, Dixon JF, Mexum TD, Dahl JL, Perdue JF, Hokin LE: Studies on the characterization of the sodiumpotassium transport adenosine triphosphatase. VI. Large scale partial purification and properties of a lubrolsolubilized bovine brain enzyme. J Biol Chem 246:531, 1971
- 178. Van Dyke RA, Chenoweth MB, Van Pozmak A: Metabolism of volatile anesthetics. Biochem Pharmacol 13:1239-1247, 1964
- 179. Veda I, Mietani W: Microsomal ATPase of rabbit brain and effects of general anesthetics. Biochem Pharmaco 16:1370-1374, 1967
 - 180. Viana G: Effects of cyclopropane on rat brain and liver mitochondria. M.S. Thesis, University of California San Francisco, 1972
 - 181. Waters RM, Schmidt ER: Cyclopropane anesthesia. J Am Med Assoc 103:975-983, 1934
 - 182. Wheeler KP, Whittam R: Structural and enzymatic effects of hydrolysis of adenosine triphosphate by membranes of kidney cortex and erythrocytes. Biochem J 93:349-363, 1964
 - 183. Whittam R, Blond DM: Respiratory control by adenosine triphosphatase involved in the active transport in brain cortex. Biochem J 92:147-158, 1964

- 184. Whittam R, Willis JS: Ion movements and O₂ consumption in kidney cortex-slices. J Physiol 168:158-177, 1963
- 185. Williams RJ: Detoxification mechanism. Second edition. New York, J. Wiley, Chapter 2, 1952
- 186. Wilson IB: AChE, further studies on binding forces. JBC 197:215-225, 1952
- 187. Wilson IB: Enzymes and Drug Action. Ciba Foundation, p 4
- 188. Wilson IB: The Possibility of Conformational Changes in AChE in "Cholinergic Ligand Interactions." Edited by DJ Triggle, JF Moran, EA Barnard, New York, Academic Press, 1962
- 189. Wilson IB: AChE, reversible inhibitors, substrate inhibition. JBC 237:1323-1326, 1962
- 190. Wilson IB, Cabib E: Is acetylcholinesterase a metalloenzyme? J Amer Chem Soc 76:5154-5156, 1954
- 191. Wilson IB, Bergmann F: Studies on ChE: The active surface of AChE derived from effects of pH on inhibitors. JBC 185:479-489, 1950
- 192. Wilson IB, Bergmann F: AChE: Dissociation constants of the active groups. JBC 185:683-692, 1950



FOR REFERENCE

.

NOT TO BE TAKEN FROM THE ROOM

·----

CAT. NO. 23 012

COPY 1

